

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Managing Energy as Experienced by Female Federal Senior Managers

Gwendolyn Jones Crimiel Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Psychology Commons, and the Vocational Rehabilitation Counseling Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Gwendolyn Jones Crimiel

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kelley Conrad, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Rachel Gallardo, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Jonathan Cabiria, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Managing Energy as Experienced by Female Federal Senior Managers

by

Gwendolyn Jones Crimiel

MSA, Central Michigan University, 1989

BA, University of Alabama, 1982

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

August 2020

Abstract

Senior managers experience a drain on personal energy while trying to meet the demands of work. The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to explore how female senior managers describe lived experiences of managing and renewing personal energy while at work. The theoretical framework included conservation of resources theory and effort recovery theory. Data were collected from semi-structured interviews with 14 female senior managers who experienced managing and renewing their personal energy at work. Data analysis involved coding to capture the essence of the experiences and to identify common themes. Findings indicated that insufficient energy affected participants' mental and emotional capacities. Managers normally recognized the lack when energy was depleted. Strategies for reenergizing included interacting with others, delegating work, isolating themselves, taking a brief walk, or moving to a different task. Findings may be used by managers and administration to highlight the need to manage and renew energy at work to meet work demands.

Managing Energy as Experienced by Female Federal Senior Managers

by

Gwendolyn Jones Crimiel

MSA, Central Michigan University, 1989

BA, University of Alabama, 1982

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

August 2020

Dedication

I first give honor to God for giving me the opportunity and strength to undertake this journey. His grace sustained me and kept me when times were hard. I dedicate this dissertation to my family and friends. My husband Dennis encouraged me in my struggles, cheered my milestones, and loved me through the process. I want to thank Kelsey and Louis for their patience and support. Between school, work, and ministry work, I often neglected them and their needs. I want to thank Dennis and Jasmyne for their encouragement and love. I pray my children know I completed this journey, in part, for them. I always want them to know you are never too old to pursue a dream no matter how hard it seems—never give up! My parents helped me to be the person I am today. I thank them for their sacrifices, support, and love. I thank my sisters for their prayers, encouragement, and faith in my ability to complete this journey. I thank my prayer warriors, especially Carole who provided constant prayer and encouragement. For all who prayed for me and with me, encouraged me, checked in for status, and cheered me on, I say thank you. I count you all as blessings. Philippians 4:13 states, "I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me." Again, I thank God for giving me the strength to press through.

Acknowledgments

Completing this dissertation at this stage in my life was indeed a challenging journey. It took a host of individuals to help make this journey a success. I thank Dr. Kelley Conrad, my committee chair, for his guidance and support as we navigated this process. I also acknowledge and thank Dr. Rachel Gallardo for her support in this doctoral process. Dr. Jonathan Cabiria provided an exhaustive review of my dissertation. I thank him for helping me improve my dissertation to ensure it was a quality document.

I want to give a special thank you and acknowledgement to my mentor Dr. Gloria J. Edwards. She encouraged me to pursue this journey and provided immeasurable support, encouragement, and friendship along the way. She promised to be there for me. She kept her word. I truly can't thank her enough. To my friend Charlene, I say thank you for listening to me, encouraging me, and being willing to review and edit documents. You were a gem. I also want to acknowledge family and friends for the kind words and prayers during this doctoral journey. To the phenomenal women who were willing to give of themselves and their time to participate in my study, I say thank you. I was inspired by your leadership and experiences.

List of Tables	V
List of Figures	'n
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	3
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	7
Nature of the Study	8
Research Questions1	0
Theoretical Framework1	0
Conservation of Resources Theory1	1
Effort Recovery Theory12	2
Definition of Terms1	3
Assumptions1	5
Limitations1	5
Delimitations1	6
Significance of the Study1	6
Summary and Transition1	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review2	1
Literature Search Strategy2	2
Theoretical Framework	5
Conservation of Resources Theory20	5

Table of Contents

Effort Recovery Theory	
Personal Energy Management	30
Concept of Personal Energy	
Women and Stress	
Recovery	
Considerations for Energy Management	
Strategies for Renewing Personal Energy	
Gaps in the Literature	46
Summary and Conclusions	46
Chapter 3: Methodology	48
Research Design and Rationale	48
Research Design	49
Rationale for the Design	50
Role of the Researcher	50
Methodology	52
Participant Selection Logic	52
Sampling Strategy	53
Instrumentation, Pilot Study, and Data Collection	54
Data Analysis Plan	57
Issues of Trustworthiness	60
Credibility	60
Transferability	61

Dependability61
Confirmability
Ethical Procedures
Informed Consent
Confidentiality
Beneficence
IRB Approval65
Summary65
Chapter 4: Results
Pilot Study68
Setting70
Demographics71
Data Collection71
Data Analysis75
Interview Questions and Associated Notes76
Discrepant Cases
Evidence of Trustworthiness79
Credibility
Transferability
Dependability
Confirmability
Results

Research Question 1 Findings 8	33
Research Question 2 Findings	9 0
Research Question 3 Findings	92
Summary	95
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	97
Interpretation of the Findings	98
Typical Day Experiences	98
Energy and Performance) 9
Matching Energy to Resources	00
Replenishing Energy10)2
Challenges in Managing Energy10)3
Limitations of the Study10	05
Recommendations10	06
Implications and Recommendations for Positive Social Change10	09
Impact for the Individual11	10
Impact for the Organization11	11
Theoretical Implications11	13
Conclusion11	14
References11	17
Appendix A: Interview Protocol14	43
Appendix B: Recruitment Letter	46

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Search Key Words	24
Table 2. Demographic Overview	71
Table 3. Duration and Collection Medium of Interviews of Study Participants	73
Table 4. Interview Questions, Associated Nodes, and Corresponding Research Question	n
	78
Table 5. Associated Nodes, Refined Node, and Corresponding Research Question	79
Table 6. Responses to Node Typical Day	83
Table 7. Responses to Node Energy and Performance	86
Table 8. Responses to Node Matching Energy to Resources	88
Table 9. Responses to Node Replenishing Energy	91
Table 10. Responses to Node Challenges in Managing Energy	93

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Descriptions	of personal	energy	,	31	ĺ
-----------	--------------	-------------	--------	---	----	---

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Senior managers need to have energy to meet the demands of work (Berman, 2005; Cranley, Cunningham, & Panda, 2016; Fritz, Lam, & Spritzer, 2011; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003; Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014). The nature of work and the workplace are rapidly changing (Cranley et al., 2016; Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014). Increased demands in a high-paced work environment increase stress in senior managers and drain personal energy (Buffone et al., 2017; Perry, Nicholls, Duffield, & Gallagher, 2017; Saliba & Barden, 2017). Research has shown that women experience stress differently than men (Stafyla, Kaltsidou, & Spyridis, 2013). When encountering stress, women may face additional or different challenges in establishing a balance between the expenditure of and replenishment of energy resources (Cranley et al., 2016; Stafyla et al., 2013). To combat the negative effects of stress and prevent energy loss, senior managers must devise ways to manage and renew their energy resources during the workday to perform at optimal levels, stay engaged, and promote well-being. Managers must first be able to recognize when their energy level is low or insufficient to successfully complete work and handle the challenges of work (Kinnunen, Feldt, de Bloom, & Korpela, 2015).

Energy is the quantity of vigor and stamina needed to complete a task or engage in an activity (Berman, 2005). Having low energy may be adequate in the short term; however, sustained performance and engagement require solid energy reserves (Berman, 2005). Senior managers need to have effective methods for managing and renewing energy while at work (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Berman (2005) posited that individuals require mental, physical, and emotional capacities to perform and engage in given tasks. Loehr and Schwartz (2003) identified four dimensions of energy: mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical. Senior managers should be aware of the factors affecting energy stores at work and balance the expenditure of energy with intermittent replenishment (Berman, 2005; Schwartz, 2007).

Organizations have focused on economic, environmental, and social sustainability. Although leaders understand that the success of an organization depends on human resources, leaders have not always paid attention to human sustainability (Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017). Human sustainability is the growth, maintenance, and renewal of personnel resources. Organizational leaders are starting to recognize the importance of human sustainability for improving performance, fostering engagement, and promoting wellness (Buffone et al., 2017; Saliba & Barden, 2017). Supporting practices to develop energy resources of personnel fosters human sustainability (Romanelli, 2018).

Senior managers are expected to handle organizational requirements and workforce challenges. The U.S. Office of Personnel Management (OPM, date) identified employee health and wellness as a workforce priority. OPM (2019b) promulgated policies and programs to help personnel develop competencies for managing stress and energy. Increased energy may contribute to optimal performance and may increase productivity in organizations (Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014; Perry et al., 2017; Pink-Harper & Rauhaus, 2017).

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore and gain an understanding of the lived experiences of female senior managers trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. As executive leaders understand the strategies senior managers use to manage energy, they may promote and provide resources to assist managers (Agosti, Bringsen, & Andersson, 2017; Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). This study added to the current body of literature on processes and strategies for managing energy.

Chapter 1 includes the background of the study, the problem statement, the purpose of this study, and the research questions. The theoretical framework included the conservation of resources and effort recovery theories. The chapter includes the nature and significance of the study, assumptions, limitations, and a summary.

Background of the Study

Energy management is critical to performance, engagement, and well-being. Senior managers lose energy because of work demands and other workplace stressors. These stressors may also affect an individual's ability to complete work. Plieger et al. (2017) suggested it is unclear how stress interacts with cognitive functioning and the ability to complete tasks. How an individual appraises work tasks and responds to events in the work environment affects cognitive task load. The combination of an individual's work content, cognitive load actions, and emotional state may affect the person's work performance (Plieger et al., 2017). Determining how to match cognitive functioning with the work demand may mitigate the loss of energy. When senior managers face mental or emotional demands of work, energy resources are taxed (Berman, 2005; Kersh, 2018; Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015).

Workplaces are changing at record paces. The demographics of the workforce are more diverse. The number of women in the workforce continues to grow, and women are seeking greater roles and leadership positions. Women occupied 52% of job positions in 2016 (U.S. Department of Labor, 2016). Women continue to make strides but still face barriers of unequal pay, discriminatory practices, marginalization, and role insufficiency (Kersh, 2018). These barriers, combined with role strain, role overload, and work-life balance, create stress and drain energy (Diehl & Dzubinski, 2016; Manuel, Howansky, Chang, & Sanchez, 2017).

Studies suggested that women experience stress differently than male counterparts. Women may be vulnerable to the negative impacts of stress due to societal identities and stereotypes (Buffone et al., 2017). Consequently, female senior managers may approach energy management differently (Devonish, 2017; Kersh, 2018). Compared to male counterparts, women have a better understanding of the need to employ coping and recovery strategies to preserve energy (Kersh, 2018).

Organizations have promoted time management as a method for increasing productivity and performance in the workplace (Cranley et al., 2016; Schwartz, 2010). Organizations have also invested resources on training designed to teach the principles of time management. Although organizing tasks and goals may be helpful for prioritization, this strategy does not address the impact of work demands on the energy levels of senior managers (Cranley et al., 2016). Very little attention has been given to managing energy to mitigate the deleterious impact of stress and to improve performance at work (Berman, 2005).

Energy capacity diminishes with expenditure (Berman, 2005; Schwartz, 2007). The totality of energy consists of dimensions of mental, physical, emotional, or spiritual energy. These sources are separate and significant; however, each source may interact and influence the others to provide the greatest benefit (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Building capacity requires balancing energy use with intermittent replenishment (Berman, 2005). Recovery of energy is critical for reducing the harmful impact of stress.

At the most basic level, humans are guided by rhythmic patterns of activity and rest throughout the day (Kinnunen et al., 2015). This oscillation builds capacity for optimal performance, full engagement, and well-being (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Senior managers seek positive outcomes and try to avoid negative outcomes. Throughout the day, senior managers may rely on mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical energy stores to perform. Mental energy equips managers to concentrate, show resiliency, and be flexible in the performance of duties and responsibilities (Berman, 2005). Mental energy fuels cognitive engagement, preparation, vision, creativity, and positivity (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Emotional energy provides the capacity to manage feelings and sentiments. Emotional energy powers self-regulation, interpersonal skills, and selfconfidence (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Spiritual energy derives from belief in higher sources of power. Spiritual energy drives character and commitment (Bickerton, Miner, Dowson, & Griffin, 2014; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Physical energy is the primary source for vigor and alertness. Physical energy encompasses nutrition, fitness, quality of sleep, and intermittent recovery. Physical energy yields mental acuity, emotional equilibrium, and endurance to manage aspects of life (Kinnunen et al., 2015). Integrating any of these energy sources may help senior managers achieve a high degree of energy. It is beneficial for senior managers to be mentally focused, emotionally connected, spiritually aligned, and physically revitalized to attain goals.

Problem Statement

The absence of energy affects work performance, engagement, and overall wellbeing (Berman, 2005; Fritz et al., 2011). Throughout the day, stress in the workplace depletes energy and impacts performance (Fritz et al., 2011). Studies showed stress reveals itself differently in women. Women face unique challenges in managing energy (Stafyla et al., 2013). Work-life balance presents challenges for maintaining a positive balance between the use and recovery of energy. Senior female managers should build regular recovery into routines to manage and replenish energy (Atler, Moravec, Sample, & Fruhaur, 2017; Bennett, Gabriel, Calderwood, Dahling, & Trougakos, 2016; Cranley et al., 2016; De Bloom et al., 2017; Hunter & Wu, 2016).

Researchers have documented the negative effect of stress on well-being (Buffone et al., 2017; Fritz et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2017; Saliba & Barden, 2017; Savaneviciene, & Stankeviciute, 2017). Researchers have also examined strategies for managing energy through recovery during the evening and weekends; however, a review of contemporary literature revealed research gaps related to strategies for female senior managers managing energy at work (Barnett et al., 2012; Hunter & Wu, 2016; Park & Lee, 2015; Ragsdale, Hoover, & Wood, 2016; Sonnentag, Arbeus, Mahn, & Fritz, 2014; Zijlstra, Cropley, & Rydstedt, 2014). To narrow the gap in current research, I explored how female senior managers manage and replenish energy to achieve and maintain optimal performance. This study of these lived experiences may enhance awareness of strategies for continuous management of energy at work. The study addressed the challenges managers face while balancing energy needs with the demands of others and the organization. The results may provide practical applications to assist managers and employees at all levels.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore and gain an understanding of the lived experiences of female senior managers trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. I employed a hermeneutic phenomenological design to explore the strategies senior managers used to manage energy drained by stress in the workplace. The target population for this study included female senior managers working in the federal agencies in the National Capital Region (NCR) of the United States. Mangers had held their current positions for a minimum of 1 year. The NCR encompasses the District of Columbia and jurisdictions in Virginia and Maryland (Federal Emergency Management Agency, 2018). Purposeful selection is an appropriate methodological approach to select a sample population who can share relevant experiences in managing energy at work (Creswell, 2014). Other researchers used purposeful selection to examine the relevant experiences of specific groups or individuals regarding a particular phenomenon (Szymanski & Lewis, 2016). However, the literature on employees in the public sector trying to manage and replenish energy was scant (Pink-Harper & Rauhaus, 2017; Rogers, Li, & Ellis, 1994). Pink-Harper and Rauhaus (2017) noted that organizations should expand policies and practices to address employee resiliency challenges as the numbers of women increase in the workforce.

Studies showed that continued exposure to stress and the failure to manage energy may be harmful to the performance, health, and well-being of female managers (Pink-Harper & Rauhaus, 2017; Xanthopoulou San-Vergel, & Demerouti, 2014). There is abundant research on strategies for managing and replenishing energy during nonwork hours; however, there is minimal research on managing and replenishing energy while at work (Dababneh, Swanson, & Shell, 2001; Sonnentag, Venz, & Casper, 2017; Taylor, 2005; Xanthopoulou et al., 2014). Participants in the current study were asked to describe their experiences of maintaining and renewing energy and to share the challenges they faced in doing so while at work. This provided a greater understanding of ways to improve energy levels.

Organizational leaders want managers to perform at high levels (Judge, Weiss, Kammeyer-Mueller, & Hulin, 2017; Mroz & Kaleta, 2016; Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017). It would benefit leaders to understand how effective energy management can assist senior managers. Results from the current study provided practical application for leaders, senior managers, and line employees. This exploratory study narrowed the gap and contributed to the current literature on energy management for senior managers in the public sector.

Nature of the Study

I used a phenomenological design to explore the lived experiences of female senior managers trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. Qualitative methodology offers various approaches for gaining an in-depth understanding of the lived experiences of the study participants (Yin, 2011). A phenomenological design is used to obtain rich descriptions of the participants' feelings, perceptions of experiences, and sense making of a particular phenomenon (Patton, 2015). This design is used to explore common or shared experiences of participants (Creswell, 2014; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The phenomenological design is appropriate for conducting hermeneutic and descriptive analyses of the lived experiences of a selected population (Patton, 2015).

Numerous qualitative designs were considered for the current study, including case study, narrative, and ethnographic (see Simon & Goes, 2013). The phenomenological design emerged as the most appropriate design to answer the study's research questions. Creswell (2014) noted that in a phenomenological study, participants share unique perceptions and understanding of the topic or phenomenon. Giorgi (2009) stated a descriptive analysis is used to describe an experience, not to interpret it. The current study was beneficial because it gave participants the opportunity to describe experiences of trying to manage, sustain, and replenish energy while at work.

Many studies have focused on time management in the workplace; however, few have focused on energy management (Berman, 2005). The central phenomenon in the current study was energy management. The study focused on describing how female senior managers within the public sector manage and replenish energy during the workday to achieve optimal performance. The participants included a purposive sample of female senior managers who had held their current positions for at least 1 year. I used semistructured interviews to gather data on the lived experiences of female senior managers trying to manage and replenish energy during the workday. Data were collected using an interview protocol (see Appendix A). Sloan and Bowe (2014) stated that the use of open-ended questions in an interview setting allows the researcher to observe participants while capturing descriptive and in-depth responses. This method also gives participants the opportunity to share perceptions of the world and gives voice to their experiences.

Research Questions

Senior managers perform at higher levels when they have sufficient energy (Berman, 2005; Schwartz, 2007). To manage and replenish energy, managers need mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical energy. The research questions (RQs) focused on exploring and understanding the lived experiences of senior managers seeking to manage and replenish energy:

RQ1: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work?

RQ2: What is it like to experience trying to replenish energy while at work?

RQ3: What are the perceived challenges to successfully managing energy at work?

Theoretical Framework

Theoretical frameworks provide structure in a research study by helping to explain or understand a phenomenon. A theoretical framework may also extend existing information and knowledge on the topic. I employed two theories: the conservation of resources (COR) and the effort recovery (ER). Hobfoll's COR theory (as cited in Barnett et al., 2012) provides a resource-oriented framework for examining stress, burnout, and exhaustion. The ER theory suggests individuals expend effort and energy to meet work demands (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). The extent of the effort used will partially determine the amount of effort available for future expenditures (Cranley et al., 2016).

Conservation of Resources Theory

The conservation of resources theory (Hobfoll, 1989) provided a resourceoriented approach for examining how individuals manage personal resources. This approach posits that resources help an individual recover and return to the physical, mental, or psychological state before the onset of stress or stress-inducing events. These resources include objects, personal characteristics, conditions, and energies (Hobfoll, 2001). These valuable resources are conduits for preserving and reclaiming other valued resources (Hobfoll, 2001). Hobfoll (1989) suggested that individuals strive to minimize stress in their lives. Individuals protect, store, and replenish resources to mitigate the loss or perceived loss of resources (Hobfoll, 1989). Individuals perform better and stay more engaged when there is balance between resources and demands (Barnett et al., 2012; Binnewies, Sonnentag, & Mojza, 2009).

Like Hobfoll, other theorists have suggested individuals have a limited supply of resources (Trougakos, Hideg, Cheng, & Beal, 2014). It is important to replenish resources that have been depleted. The ego depletion theory posits that individuals possess a limited pool of resources for use in regulating behavior and actions (Muraven & Baumeister, 2000). Each time a person exhibits behaviors requiring self-regulation such as suppressing emotions or focusing attention, resources are depleted (Trougakos et al., 2014). The job demands-resources theory considers the relationship between job demands and job resources (Huang, Wang, & You, 2016). The physical and emotional demands of work are risk factors for stress and job burnout (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). Resources of control, job autonomy, and social support alleviate stress and mitigate loss of energy (Demerouti, Bakker, Nahreiner, & Schaufeli, 2001). The job demandsresources theory posits resources help individuals manage the stress of job demands and facilitate performance (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). Energy is a vital prerequisite for accomplishing work (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017; Effering, Pereira, & Gross, 2016).

Effort Recovery Theory

The primary focus of many occupational health theories is the relationship between burnout, job demands, and available job resources (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). There has been considerably less focus on the daily physiological and psychological processes, which may contribute to poor well-being and burnout (Kim, Park, & Niu, 2017). Meijman and Mulder (1998) recognized the deficiency in thought and highlighted the notion that individuals must invest effort and energy to complete work-related goals. Meijman and Mulder suggested as individuals exert effort, there may be physiological, psychological, or behavioral responses. These negative responses, or *load reactions*, may accumulate and manifest into more severe reactions such as chronic tension and stress, insomnia, prolonged fatigue, burnout, and other physical illnesses (Cranley et al., 2016). Effective recovery is required to repair the adverse effects and strain caused by work demands (Meijman & Mulder, 1998).

The ER theory purports there are physiological and physical costs associated with achieving goals and completing work (Kim et al., 2017; Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014). Stress results in the release of cortisol. The release is a coping mechanism for dealing with the stressor. Continued exposure to stressors and activation of the potentially harmful stress process without intermittent recovery may have harmful impacts on the body and wellness (Kim et al., 2017).

Sustained efforts of work drain energy resources needed to complete tasks and manage work demands (Ragsdale & Beehr, 2016). The exertion of effort and the loss of energy resources necessitates the need for some form of recovery period or event (Dettmers, Vahle-Hinz, Bamberg, Freidrich, & Keller, 2016; Fritz et al., 2011). The process of recovery allows an individual to return to the prestressor baseline (Ragsdale et al., 2016; Zijlstra et al., 2014). Through the process of recovery, managers can manage and renew personal energy. This study addressed the lived experiences of senior managers trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. I also explored the challenges managers face in doing so.

Definition of Terms

Burnout: The inability to compete tasks or actions due to the collapse or diminishment of physical, mental, or emotional abilities (Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014).

Emotional energy: The capacity to manage emotions in the conduct of performance (Berman, 2005).

Energy: The vigor and stamina required to complete a task or activity (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003).

Energy management: A deliberate and conscious effort to balance the expenditure and restoration of energy (Berman, 2005; Schwartz, 2007).

Federal senior manager: An employee in a Federal Government General Schedule (GS)-15 or GS-14 pay grade. The GS pay scale consists of 15 grades ranging from GS-1 to GS-15. Approximately 1% of the federal workforce are in the grade of GS-15, and 13% are in the grade of GS-14. The senior manager is responsible for planning, organizing, managing, and evaluating assignments for personnel. The senior manager is responsible for the overall execution and management of programs (OPM, 2018).

Mental energy: The capacity for managers to concentrate, show resiliency, and be flexible in the performance of responsibilities and duties (Berman, 2005).

Physical energy: The primary source of vigor and alertness and the fundamental source for mental acuity, emotional equilibrium, strength, and endurance. Nutrition, fitness, quality of sleep, and intermittent recovery determine the degree of physical energy (Kinnunen et al., 2015; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003).

Recovery: A dynamic process designed to replenish and manage energy to allow an individual to accomplish personal requirements and demands (Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015; Zijlstra et al., 2014). Recovery is achieved through strategies such as relaxation, control, mastery of experiences, or psychological detachment (Bennett et al., 2016; Ragsdale & Beehr, 2016; Sonnentag et al., 2017; Xanthopoulou et al., 2014).

Spiritual energy: A personal set of values motivating and guiding performance, actions, and behaviors. Spiritual energy drives commitment (Bickerton et al., 2014).

Stress: An unfavorable situation characterized by tension, emotional strain, and mental strain (Johnson, Holdsworth, Hoel, & Zapf, 2013; Kersh, 2018).

Stressors: Actions or events causing stress or the perception of the onset of a stressful situation. Stressors may be mental, physical, or emotional demands (Bono et al., 2013).

Assumptions

This study included several assumptions. An assumption is an assertion believed to be true by the researcher (Patton, 2015; Simon & Goes, 2013). The first assumption was participants would understand energy is depleted consciously or subconsciously during the course of the day. The amount of energy determines the level of performance. I also assumed participants had a general understanding of the concept of energy. Another assumption was the participants would understand the relationship between energy resources and performance. I also assumed that the senior managers would accurately describe how the lack of energy negatively affected their performance and engagement in the workplace.

Limitations

Participants were asked to self-report. This was a limitation in that participants were asked to rely on memory and personal recall to describe personal experiences of managing and replenishing energy. Senior managers recalled challenges in the workplace but did not connect the lack of energy as the reason for the challenges. For example, having a high of level emotional energy may result in a better outcome when resolving issues of employees' performance or attitude. Another limitation was the study addressed only the experiences of senior managers in the NCR region. Regions outside the NCR may have different work environments, resources, support, or understanding about energy management. A small sample size was another limitation. The findings from this study were not generalizable to a larger population.

Delimitations

The researcher determines the scope of the study, makes specific choices, and sets boundaries about how to conduct a study (Simon & Goes, 2013). One parameter of the current study was the requirement for participants to be female senior managers working in the public sector in the NCR. The NCR was purposefully selected because there were numerous federal agencies in this area. Each participant had at least 1 year of tenure in the current position. The purpose of the study was to understand how this population managed and renewed energy during the course of the workday. The participants were asked to describe perceptions of any challenges hindering their ability to manage energy. The COR theory and ER theory provided the framework for the study.

Significance of the Study

Personal energy is fundamental for work and optimal performance (Berman, 2005; Judge et al., 2017). This study on energy management may be significant for senior managers, organizational practices and policies, advancement of the knowledge and literature of the discipline, and social change. Energy includes mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical capacities and is required to accomplish a task or specific activity (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Energy helps individuals regulate emotions and behaviors allowing participation in activities and compliance with group and organizational expectations and norms. Energy is not a limitless resource. Individuals must find methods to manage and restore energy on a regular basis (Fritz et al, 2011; Sonnentag et al., 2017).

Senior managers are expected to perform jobs at high levels. Numerous factors contribute to the drain of energy for managers. Directing multiple projects or programs, prioritizing resources, meeting organizational, motivating employees, and interacting with others daily deplete energy sources (Lussier & Achua, 2016; Pinder, 2008). Additionally, senior managers are accountable for subordinates (Ertas, 2015). This drain on energy may affect work performance, engagement, or the overall quality of life for managers. (Berman, 2005; Judge et al., 2017).

Senior managers face many challenges. The OPM (2018) established new workforce priorities to meet the requirements of the 2018 Workforce Priorities Report, which directed the federal government to establish a plan to address contemporary and emerging workforce challenges. Senior managers are tasked with implementing longterm plans to address changing priorities, shifting demographics, and workforce reform. Senior managers are expected to maintain performance and produce the same quality output with fewer personnel and resources. The drain or perceived drain of energy may impair the performance and well-being of senior managers (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003).

Senior executive service leaders provide long-term strategic leadership and effective governance of federal agencies and programs (OPM, 2019a). Executive leaders rely on senior managers to execute the mission, goals, and vision for federal agencies. It is important for executive leaders to recognize how increased work demands and fewer resources, for an extended period of time, drain energy and harm the well-being of senior managers and the workforce (Pink-Harper & Rauhaus, 2017; Kontoghiorghes, 2016; Mroz & Kaleta, 2016; Soyoung & Sunghan, 2018). Gaining insight into the strategies female senior managers employ to manage and replenish energy may inform decisions for leaders on cultivating sustainability of personnel.

A review of the literature revealed a lack of study on managing energy at work (Berman, 2005; Cole, Bruch, & Vogel, 2012; Kinnunen et al., 2015; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003; Schwartz, 2010; Sonnentag & Kuehnel, 2016). Senior managers need vigor and enthusiasm to perform optimally at work (Fritz et al, 2011; Sonnentag, 2001). Managers should develop recovery strategies for managing and replenishing energy. Recovery is a process designed to help an individual retain or gain sufficient energy to meet personal demands (Barnett et al., 2012; Hunter & Wu, 2016; Sonnentag et al., 2014; Zilstra et al., 2014). Recovery includes strategies of psychological detachment, relaxation, control, or mastery of experiences (Bennett et al., 2016; Ragsdale & Beehr, 2016; Sonnentag et al., 2017; Xanthopoulou et al., 2014). Although returning to work in a recovered state increases the likelihood of having energy to perform, work demands will eventually deplete these energy reserves throughout the workday (Bennett et al., 2016; de Bloom et al., 2017). Senior managers may experience fatigue, difficulty in concentrating, and negative emotions as energy is depleted (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003).

The current study has implications for positive social change. Increasing awareness on the importance of energy may assist organizations with efforts for human sustainability. Creating a culture promoting and valuing energy management could result in higher productivity, greater job satisfaction, and increased engagement (Judge et al., 2017; Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017).

Summary and Transition

The capacity to perform at high levels requires sufficient energy. Increasing work demands often exacerbate the stress of senior managers. Often managers are stretched beyond their capacity to achieve at an optimal level. They become mentally, emotionally, spiritually, or physically exhausted, impairing their performance, judgment, and engagement (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Current literature did not address the role of energy in performance at work. The current phenomenological study contributed to the literature by addressing the lived experiences of female senior managers in replenishing energy at work.

This study was guided by three questions: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work, what is it like trying to replenish energy while at work, and what are the perceived challenges to successfully managing energy? These questions aided in the examination of the phenomenon of energy management in female senior managers in the public sector. Senior managers are expected to perform at high levels and guide the performance and production of others in accomplishing organizational goals (OPM, 2018). The theoretical frameworks of COR theory and ER theory provided the lens for examining how senior managers manage and replenish energy.

The first chapter addressed why it is important for senior managers to effectively manage and replenish energy. Chapter 2 provides an extensive overview of the relevant literature and the theoretical frameworks guiding the study. Chapter 3 includes the methodological approach for exploring the experiences of managing and replenishing energy. Chapters 4 and 5 include findings, conclusions, and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter includes an examination of the relevant literature on the phenomenon of energy management. The study was an exploration of the lived experiences of female senior managers in the public sector trying to manage and replenish energy at work. The study highlighted the challenges managers perceive as barriers to managing energy. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore and gain insight into how managing energy facilitates optimal performance and positive well-being.

With qualitative research, a researcher collects data on a phenomenon by talking to or observing individuals in their natural settings (Creswell, 2014; Giorgi, 2009; Moustakas, 1994). For the current study, I interviewed participants and documented verbal and nonverbal responses (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Yin, 2011). Saldana (2016) suggested that organizing data by themes or categories helps the researcher discern different meanings and experiences. A qualitative research approach yielded practical applications for senior managers to help increase energy. The results helped inform practices and policies for enhancing organizational citizenship behaviors such as increased job performance, satisfaction, and engagement (see Judge et al., 2017).

The existence of overwhelming work demands has serious implications for managing levels of energy. Managers are expected to produce positive organizational outcomes (Berman, 2005). A motivated and competent manager may survive on insufficient or low levels of energy for a short period of time; however, in the long run, the manager will need to manage energy for optimal performance during the workday (Fritz et al., 2011; Hildenbrand, Sacremento, & Binnewies, 2018). The constant mental, emotional, and physical demands placed on the manager deplete energy stores and resources. Managers should recognize the drain and implement practices or measures for preservation of energy. Managing and renewing personal energy daily will improve performance and effectiveness both on and off the job (Binnewies et al., 2009; Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014).

The current study was guided by a focus on energy management. The aspects of energy management under exploration included (a) what it is like to experience trying to manage and replenish energy while at work and (b) the perceived challenges to successfully managing energy. Major sections in Chapter 2 include the literature search strategy, theoretical frameworks, energy management, women and stress, strategies for recovery, gaps in the literature, and a summary.

Literature Search Strategy

The primary focus of this study included an examination of how senior managers sustained and renewed energy at work. I examined the perceived challenges of successfully managing personal energy. The population for the study included female senior managers employed with federal agencies in the NCR. The study included a review of the relevant literature describing how this group of public sector employees managed and renewed energy. Managers within the public sector experience unique challenges of governance, bureaucracy, and changing priorities (OPM, 2018).

A literature review is a conventional step in conducting empirical research. The review of existing literature helps inform new studies (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Yin (2011) identified two phases for engaging in a literature review. A *selective* review of the

literature includes an examination of research and studies appearing to resemble the particular phenomenon under study. This step identifies potential gaps in the focus area. A *comprehensive* literature review allows a researcher to complete a more exhaustive review of what is known about the topic (Yin, 2011).

The current literature review represented the examination of over 270 scholarly peer-reviewed articles, academic journals, published dissertations, and books. The review included a review of government websites and publications. The primary sources for the literature searches were the Library of Congress and the Walden University library databases. Literature was reviewed and accessed through relevant databases including Thoreau, ProQuest Dissertations, PsycINFO, ABI Inform, PsycArticles, and Academic Search Complete. The literature review continued throughout each phase of the research process in this study of energy management.

Initial searches using the key word *personal energy* yielded very few applicable results. Searches with the word *energy* yielded a wide spectrum of results, but most were not relevant to a study of personal energy. A review of related components of the key word *energy* yielded more results. This review included the key words *physical energy*, *vigor*, and *burnout*. Although there was limited literature on personal energy management, the related key words of *stress*, *well-being*, and *recovery* provided numerous results. A review of theories on managing resources resulted in relevant literature on conservation of resources, effort recovery, job demands, and stress theory.

The initial search included combinations of key words. Examples of searches conducted included Boolean search phrases of *personal energy* AND *women*, *stress* AND
well-being AND workplace, and personal energy AND recovery AND females. Table 1

provides a list of the key words used within the various search domains.

Table 1

Energy	Psychological detachment	Women
Personal energy	Mastery	Gender
Energy renewal	Control	DoD employees
Mental energy	Relaxation	Government employees
Psychological energy	Meditation	
Physical energy		
Spiritual energy		
Emotional energy		
Stress		
Performance		
Well-being		
Conservation of resources		
Effort recovery		
Job demands		
Resources		
Vigor		
Vitality		
Workplace		

Literature Search Key Words

The literature review addressed questions regarding the definition of personal energy management and types of personal energy. The initial review of the literature considered a range of topics related to energy, stress, and recovery without regard to a specific time frame. This initial broad search was important to capture seminal and historical research on the phenomenon. In subsequent searches, the time frame was narrowed to capture current and relevant literature published within the last 5 years from the start of this study. Much of the literature highlighted the impact of stress and burnout on the occupational health of employees (Bono et al., 2013; Pignata, Winefield, & Provis, 2017; Rani & Yadapadithava, 2018). During the review of this literature, the process of recovery emerged as a useful practice for mitigating harmful effects of stress and burnout (Hobfoll, 2001; Park & Lee, 2015). There was an abundance of literature focused on the use of recovery outside of the workday (Bennett et al., 2016; Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005; Ragsdale & Beehr, 2016; Sonnentag & Kuehnel, 2016). There was considerably less current research on the use of recovery while at work (Formanoy et al., 2016; Hunter & Wu, 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Kinnunen et al., 2015). Literature from searches using the key words *personal energy management* or *personal energy* was scarce, resulting in the need to consider literature outside the ideal 5-year timeframe.

Theoretical Framework

Effort is exerted to achieve work goals. This effort precipitates physical, mental, and physiological costs for a manager's energy (Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014). Researchers have not examined how managers can combat these costs and develop, retain, and manage their energy resources at work. To facilitate the exploration of the phenomenon of personal energy management, the current study was informed by resource theories. These theoretical frameworks provided a lens to examine what it was like for senior managers to manage and renew energy. Resource theories suggest that as environmental circumstances deplete or threaten resources, individuals strive to acquire, store, and renew resources. Resources may be objects, energies, or personal characteristics. These resources have value and help create additional value (Hobfoll, 1989). Because energies are used to achieve work-related goals, it is necessary to replenish energies to support future work requirements (Hobfoll, 1989; Kim et al., 2017; Meijman & Mulder, 1998). The resource theories suggest energy resources are depleted as demands are placed on an individual throughout the day. To understand how senior managers managed and renewed their energy at work, I used the COR and ER theories.

Conservation of Resources Theory

COR theory is a widely used framework for studies on stress and resources. Hobfoll (1989) developed the COR theory to address the issues of stress. Stress creates an imbalance between the demands placed on an individual and the resources available to handle the demands. The actual threat or perceived threat of an imbalance precipitates stress (Bono et al., 2013; Pignata et al., 2017). Although the COR theory is recognizable in research on stress in the workplace, this theory was one of several theories considered for use in the current study of recovery and its application in personal energy management. The premise of the COR theory is individuals work to retain, develop, and protect their valued resources in a stressful environment (Hobfoll, 1989).

Hobfoll (1989) suggested that stress is linked to physical and mental health. Hobfoll claimed stress is a response to an event or the environment, and also asserted that stress is a stimulus. The relationship between an individual and the environment becomes strained, and the individual views the strain or stress as a danger to their well-being (Hobfoll, 1989). When confronted with stressful situations, an individual seeks to minimize the depletion of valuable resources. Conversely, in a stress-free environment, the person cultivates surplus resources to offset future loss of resources (Hobfoll, 1989). According to Hobfoll (1989), the COR bridges the divide between cognitive and environmental viewpoints on stress. Hobfoll suggested Bandura's social learning theory was germane to this discussion because this theory highlights the need for an individual to engage with their environment to produce positive outcomes (Bandura, 2001; Hobfoll, 1989; Pinder, 2008). The social learning theory posits that individuals play an active role in shaping their work environment. Self-efficacy refers to an individual's belief in their ability to influence and control aspects of the environment to achieve a goal or obtain an object. Within the context of work, self-efficacy expands the perception of favorable opportunities and decreases the perception of threats to resources or the environment. Self-efficacy is an antecedent for managing and balancing work demands and resources and equips a person to avoid or mitigate the loss of resources (Consiglio, Borgogni, Alessandri, & Schaufeli, 2013; Hobfoll, 1989).

Hobfoll (1989) identified four types of resources whose gain or loss could cause stress and affect well-being: (a) conditions such as job seniority, (b) valuable objects such as a home, (c) energies cultivating additional resources, or (d) personal characteristics aiding stress resistance. These valuable resources are conduits for preserving current resources or for acquiring new ones (Hobfoll, 1989; Trougakos et al., 2014). The resource of energies was the primary focus of the current study. Hobfoll posited that energies include knowledge, time, or money. Intrinsically, one type of energy facilitates the acquisition of other types of resources (Hobfoll, 1989; Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017). Berman (2005) described energy as the degree of vigor or stamina required to complete a task or engage in work. Energy provides the capacity to meet the physical, mental, emotional, and spiritual demands of work (Berman, 2005; Loeher & Schwartz, 2003). Maintaining a balance between demands and personal energy resources facilitates better performance (Barnett et al., 2012; Hobfoll, 1989).

Hobfoll (2001) stated that the loss or threat of loss of resources exacerbates stress. Loss spirals develop when an individual lacks the necessary resources to offset these losses. The loss of one resource may lead to further losses of other resources as an individual strives to cope with diminishing resources. The efforts may produce short-term benefits or negative long-term consequences (Hobfoll, 2001). Individuals assess potential losses, examine the consequences of expending additional resources, and consider offsetting losses in determining when to employ appropriate coping strategies (Hobfoll, 1989). Inadequate energy resources and the lack of effective coping strategies affect performance, engagement, and well-being (Berman, 2005).

Effort Recovery Theory

Individuals expend some level of effort to accomplish tasks or meet the demands of work. When energy resources are used, individuals need to replenish resources to prepare for future energy requirements (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Meijman and Mulder (1998) recognized the need to examine a recovery process from a physiological and a psychological perspective.

The ER theory states expenditure of work results in unavoidable load reactions. Load reactions are physiological, behavioral, and emotional responses to the demands of work (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). These responses fluctuate during the workday based on the existence of stressors (van Hoof, Flaxman, Soderberg, Stride, & Guerts, 2018). The responses are temporary. When the demands disappear, the load reactions are released allowing the person to return to the prestressor baseline level (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). Individuals need to recover psychological, emotional, and physical energy (Siu, Cooper, & Phillips, 2014). Recovery requirements will vary between individuals (Berman, 2005; Cranley et al., 2016). Failure to achieve recovery may harm work performance (Debus, Sonnentag, Deutsch, & Nussbeck, 2014; Dettmers et al., 2016). If stress-inducing work demands persist without recovery opportunities, load reactions may manifest. The outcomes may be chronic stress, exhaustion, insomnia, burnout, and other illnesses (Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014; Sianoja, Kinnunen, Makikangas, Tolvanen, 2016).

The ER model encompasses key assumptions (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). To meet the responsibilities and requirements of everyday life, individuals must exert effort. Meijman and Mulder (1998) described the tasks as *allostatic load*. A person's efforts result in psychological and physiological bodily changes. A series of interrelated neurochemical processes occur in the brain producing cortisol and adrenalin (Dettmers et al., 2016; Meijman & Mulder, 1998). These changes are temporary and reversible. Exposure to positive conditions and participation in recovery restores depleted resources and reverse the negative consequences of the allostatic load (Meijman & Mulder, 1998; van Hoof et al., 2018). Finally, if recovery is inhibited or is subpar, well-being and work performance may be harmed (Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015). Insufficient opportunities for recovery may result in spillover and cumulative load reactions (Smit, 2016).

Meijman and Mulder (1998) posited the effects of demanding work affect wellbeing. The anxiety caused by the inability to complete work creates stress and drains mental energy (Berman, 2005). Mental energy helps regulate emotional energy influencing behavior (Boekhorst, Singh, & Burke, 2017; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003).

Personal Energy Management

Personal energy helps an individual translate potential into action (Berman, 2005). In this current study, I examined the concepts of personal energy, women and stress, and recovery. I considered potential strategies for managing and renewing energy at work.

Concept of Personal Energy

Personal energy is managed consciously and unconsciously and is the primary source for human work (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). The concept of personal energy is examined within the context of biological or psychological human functioning (Cole et al., 2012; Zacher, Brailsford, & Parker, 2014). Recently, researchers have explored personal energy in the context of work and performance (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003; Pfeiffer, 2010). Oerleamans and Bakker (2014) characterized energy as physical vigor, an affective energetic state in which individuals feel physically strong and alert enough to be creative and resilient. Interest has mounted in human sustainability in the workplace (Kinnunen et al., 2015; Pfeiffer, 2010; Pluta & Rudawska, 2016; Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017).

There were inconsistencies in the literature regarding a definition for personal energy. Berman (2005) and Sianoja et al. (2016) described *energy* as the amount of vigor or stamina required to engage in work. Berman (2005) also described energy as emotional, intellectual and physical energy. Others described energy as an affective mood or experience that moves a person to act or engage (Anaza, Nowlin, & Wu, 2016; Fritz et

al., 2011). Jonge and Peeters (2019) suggested vitality influences actions and promotes thriving at work. Other researchers described the physical, mental, emotional, social, and spiritual dimensions of energy (Cole et al., 2012; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Sufficient emotional and physical energy cultivate mental clarity and focus (Berman, 2005). Spiritual energy reflects values, provides purpose, and gives direction (Berman, 2005; Cole et al. 2012). Physical energy is derived from breathing patterns, nutrition, adequate sleep, fitness, and rest or recovery (Berman, 2005). The physical dimension yields the vigor and alertness to influence emotional energy which controls behavior (Clinton, Sturges, & Conway, 2017). Similarly, Fritz et al. (2011) viewed energy through the lens of vitality and fatigue and identified physical, relational, mental, and spiritual tactics for facilitating vitality and reducing fatigue. Physical energy is finite and needs to be replenished (Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). See Figure 1. for descriptions of energy.



Figure 1. Descriptions of personal energy.

Although there was a lack of consistency in defining personal energy, there was agreement regarding the consequences of failing to manage energy (Berman, 2005; Loehr

& Schwartz, 2003). Having insufficient energy stores have physical and emotional consequences for the individual (Ziljstra et al, 2014). Energy resources help individuals manage stressful situations (Boehhorst et al., 2014; Sonnentag, Mojza, & Binneweiss, 2010; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). Outcomes for the workplace include absenteeism, disengagement, and lackluster performance (Anaza et al., 2016; Els, Mostert, & De Beer, 2015; Sonnentag et al., 2010). Kim and Hyun (2017) and McGrath, Cooper-Thomas, Garrosa, San-Vergel and Cheung (2014) found improving the quality of sleep and facilitating positive interactions at work increased employee engagement and decreased turnover intentions.

Managing energy is an individualized phenomenon. Individuals will manage and renew energy differently and may not recognize the lack of sufficient energy to complete a task (Cole et al., 2012; Pluta & Rudawska, 2016; Schwartz, 2007). It is easier to cultivate new energy when current energy is high (Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). This phenomenological study may fill a gap in the literature on managing energy in the workplace.

Women and Stress

Stress is an actual or perceived threat to a person's psychological or physiological state (Dettmers et al., 2016). Stress impairs an individual's ability to manage and protect personal resources. Trougakos and Hideg (2009) suggested individuals perceive the impact of stress on their personal resources differently. Research studies show women perceive and experience stress differently than their male counterparts (Buffone et al., 2017; Rogers et al., 1994; Stafyla et al., 2013). There may also be cultural differences in

managing stress (Verma, Balhara, & Gupta, 2011). Eastern collectivistic cultures view stress as the lack of inner peace (Mansour & Tremblay, 2016). Individualistic cultures in the West associate stress with a lack of control (Shavitt, Cho, Johnson, Jiang, Holbrook, & Stavrak, 2016; Verma et al., 2011).

Women are sometimes subjected to stereotypes and societal expectations regarding their roles (Buffone et al., 2017). This is especially true in the workplace (Kausar, 2017). These societal labels and expectations place undue psychological stress on women causing an additional drain on personal resources (Kersh, 2018; Stafyla et al., 2013). These environmental demands are labeled as *stress appraisal* (Woods-Giscombe & Lobel, 2008).

I found that some studies suggest stress is compounded for minority women, especially African American women. African American women may have lower paying jobs, fewer benefits, and less opportunity for advancement compared to their White counterparts (Mays, 1995; Woods-Giscombe & Lobel, 2008). The intersectionality of sex and race, combined with cultural and occupational stereotypes, contribute to challenges to their authority and identity (Hall, Everett, & Hamilton-Mason, 2012; McDowell & Carter-Francique, 2017).

Women may experience physiological consequences because of stressful job demands (Buffone et al., 2017). Physical manifestations for women include depression, hypertension, obesity, anxiety, and loss of energy (Rogers et al., 1994; Stafyla et al., 2013; Woods-Giscombe & Lobel, 2008). Men also experience hypertension but are also more susceptible to drug abuse and displays of aggressive behavior (Verma et al., 2011). These gender differences may affect coping skills and recovery efforts (Rubino, Volpone, & Avery, 2013). Coping with stress requires behavioral and cognitive endeavors. An individual must appraise the stressor, develop and implement strategies to cope with the stress, and then evaluate the effectiveness and appropriateness of the chosen strategies (Kausar, 2017).

Recovery

Recovery is a process that occurs when stressors are removed and a person feels psychologically and physically capable of continuing work (Dettmers et al., 2016; Sonnentag & Niessen, 2008). Recovery restores performance capability (Zoupanou, Cropley, & Rydstedt, 2013). Sonnentag and Niessen (2008) linked the trait of *vigor* to the recovery process. Vigor is characterized by subjective feelings of mental, emotional, and physical energy (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003. Studies suggested daily recovery efforts increased levels of physical and mental vigor during the workday (Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014; Trougakos et al., 2014; Zacher et al., 2014). The phenomenon of recovery has many facets. Recovery may be viewed as a setting, a process, or an outcome (Sonnentag & Geurts, 2009).

Recovery is perceived as a temporal event. Examples include work breaks, vacations, or free evenings after work. Studies have examined the effectiveness of recovery in various situational settings (Zacher et al., 2014). Lunch and micro-break recovery settings were useful for decreasing fatigue and preventing further accumulation of stress or strain. These breaks provided short-term positive effects for helping individuals manage energy and regain valuable resources for the remainder of the workday (Sianoja et al., 2016; Zacher et al., 2014). Breaks may be beneficial in energy recovery, but autonomy moderates the benefits (Trougakos et al., 2014). Although vacations may aid in recovery, the positive effects fade in a short period of time (Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). Vacation fade out occurs about two weeks after returning to work (Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005). In another study, the results revealed detachment from work was not solely sufficient for achieving recovery. To achieve serenity and positive affect, it is important to engage in recovery strategies such as relaxation and mastery experiences (Sonnentag, Binnewies, & Mojza, 2008).

Engaging in recovery helps individuals restore personal resources (Bennett et al., 2016; Sonnentag et al., 2017). Researchers have examined the recovery activities of reading, sleeping or engaging in social activities that replenish energy resources (De Bloom et al., 2017; Rhee & Kim, 2016; Sonnentag, 2001; Trougakos et al. 2008).

Recovery as an outcome may be positive or negative (Sonnentag & Geurts, 2009). A positive outcome results in having the vigor and vitality to meet current and future demands. Recovery may be deficient if mechanisms or processes are not in place to manage and renew energy (Els et al., 2015). Measurable recovery outcomes include behavioral, psychological, and physiological outcomes (Sonnentag & Geurts, 2009). Work performance and employee engagement are examples of behavioral outcomes. Sonnentag and Niessen (2008) found vigor stimulated proactive and creative work behaviors. The evidence of vigor was deemed essential to performance and work engagement in organizations (Brouer, Gallagher, & Badawy, 2016). Smit (2016) found vigor fluctuated during the day based on available of resources. Burnout is an example of a psychological outcome. Vandevala et al. (2017) found the use of mindfulness meditation and relaxation helped reduce burnout for intensive care unit health professionals. Sonnentag, Kuttler and Fritz (2010) examined the impact of high workloads and job stressors on psychological detachment. To prevent emotional exhaustion, a person needs to psychologically detach from work after leaving the work setting (Sharp-Donahoo, Siegrist, & Garrett-Wright, 2018; Sonnentag et al., 2010).

A physiological outcome may be the excretion of cortisol. The stress hormone cortisol is excreted to help an individual handle stress or stressors (Buffone et al., 2017; Dettmers et al., 2016). When the excretion levels remain high for extended periods of time, recovery is needed (Dettmers et al., 2016). Sonnentag and Fritz (2015) used the stressor-detachment model to examine detachment. Continued exposure to stressors impedes detachment, increases the likelihood of chronic stress, and affects overall wellbeing (Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015).

To manage demands of work, senior managers need to manage their energy (Berman, 2005). Energy use is cyclic and is diminished incrementally (Sianoja et al., 2016). Recovery is a mechanism that allows a person to manage, build, and replenish energy resources (Sianoja et al., 2016; Sonnentag & Geurts, 2009). The COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989) and the ER theory (Meijman & Mulder, 1998) are among the most influential frameworks for examining recovery.

The COR theory postulates individuals need to gain, store, and replenish personal resources of personal characteristics, objects, conditions, and personal energy (Hobfoll, 1989). The COR theory was developed as an alternative to other stress models (Hobfoll,

1989). Hobfoll (1989) asserted people vigorously seek to create environments that are pleasurable and replete with resources. In the context of work, individuals work to minimize the loss of their resources (Hobfoll, 2001).

In a study of health emergency services employee, researchers examined the effect of weekend recovery experiences for restoring lost resources (Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005). Employees engaged in respite experiences to replenish resources and mitigate exhaustion and burnout (Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005). Sonnentag & Niessen (2008) found extended periods of recovery increased levels of vigor. Investing time and resources in positive experiences may help rebuild lost energy resources and increase recovery (see Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015). Continued exposure to stress hinders the ability to achieve recovery (Sonnentag & Niessen, 2008).

The ER framework posits recovery is achieved using a passive approach (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). The effort expended in work results in unavoidable load reactions including behavioral, physiological, and subjective responses (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). Over extended periods of time, these load reactions may accumulate and cause chronic reactions (Sonnentag, 2001). It is important for a person to have confidence in the ability to complete work tasks. This sense of control generates resources of self-efficacy aiding in recovery (Consiglio at al., 2013). Researchers labeled this belief in ability as *recovery-related self-efficacy* (RSE). Individuals expect to achieve recovery (Park & Lee, 2015).

An important tenet of the ER model is effects of stress and strain are reversible. When the stressors are suspended, recovery can commence (Sonnentag & Guerts, 2009). If recovery is achieved, the individual has the capacity to continue work efforts. Incomplete recovery hinders future work efforts (Zoupanou et al., 2013). The results of a study found it was more difficult for workaholics to suspend work-related activities and recover (Van Wijhe, Peeters, Schaufeli, & Ouweneel, 2013). Smit (2016) found psychological detachment from work-related activities alone, was insufficient for recovery the following day. Engagement in physical activities and other non-work related activities enhanced recovery and increased engagement at work the next day (Van Wijhe et al., 2013).

Considerations for Energy Management

Individuals often do not consider the need to manage energy until their supply of energy is depleted. Feelings of irritability, lack of patience, emotional exhaustion, and a feeling of fatigue impair performance (Berman, 2005). Individuals may find it challenging to unwind and recover during leisure time (Els et al., 2015). Consequently, the person returns to work feeling fatigued (Gauche, De Beer, & Brink, 2017). In today's dynamic and demanding workplace, managers require energy to lead and manage a diverse workforce (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Recovery may be difficult because of *extended availability*. Managers find it difficult to disengage psychologically because of supervisory functions, high workloads, and the inherent responsibility that accompanies the management role (Dettmers et al., 2016). Female managers have competing roles and multiple responsibilities. The demands of professional and personal responsibilities, combined with societal expectations and stereotypes, may cause undue stress (Schueller-Weidkamm & Kautzky-Willer, 2012). The interface between work life and family life impacts the mental and emotional health of female managers. Stress from work may spill over into family life and deplete energy resources (Liang, 2015; Pereira, Gross, & Elfering, 2016). Recovery experiences may moderate this relationship between job stressors and family life (Liang, 2015). Molino, Cortese, Bakker, and Ghislieri (2015) examined work-family conflict and found recovery experiences provided opportunities for individual to replenish lost resources. Laba and Geldenhuys (2018) suggested work and family domains are essential realms of working adults. Negative work experiences may carry over into the family and other non-work domains (Laba & Geldenhuys, 2018).

Using the COR as a framework, Liang (2015) found inter-role conflict creates psychological strain and emotional exhaustion. Liang (2015) found women in management positions experience additional challenges when balancing the domains of work and family. These challenges create a greater need to cultivate energy capacity through recovery efforts (Agosti et al., 2017; Schueller-Weidekamm, & Kautzky-Willer, 2012).

Strategies for Renewing Personal Energy

The demands of work lead to psychological and physical strain and exhaustion. It is important to undo the stress or strain caused by work demands (Boekhorst et al., 2017). Recovery experiences provide a process for replenishing energy. Sonnentag and Fritz (2007) suggested psychological detachment, relaxation, control, and mastery experiences contribute to recovery (Bennett et al., 2016; Sonnentag & Fritz, 2007). When an individual mentally disengages from job-related thoughts, the individual may stop the drain of resources (Boekhorst et al., 2017; Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015). After a period of mental disengagement, an employee may return to work the next day feeling more refreshed and invigorated (Sonnentag & Kuhnel, 2016). The failure to detach for an extended timeframe may adversely impact overall well-being (Sianoja et al., 2018; Sonnentag, Binnewies, & Mojza, 2010). Sonnentag and Fritz (2007) suggested refraining from thinking about work aids in recovery. In another study, Sonnentag (2018) noted a paradox in achieving recovery. Employees experience significant work stress during the day, and they disengage less because higher work demands require them to work harder to meet these demands (Sonnentag, 2018). The inability to engage in physical activity or relaxation exercises exacerbates the energy deficit causing fatigue and exhaustion (Sonnentag, 2018; Van Hoof et al., 2018; Watanabe et al., 2016).

Low-effort activities such as reading, watching television, or socializing with friends provide beneficial relaxation (Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014). Meditation, relaxation exercises, or exposure to green space during park walks may also facilitate recovery (De Bloom et al., 2017; Hulsherger et al., 2015; Randler, Luffer, & Muller, 2015). These experiences reduce tension and regenerate new physical, emotional, and psychological resources (Hoolahan, Hoffman, Greenhouse, & Lehman, 2012; Xanthopoulou et al., 2018). Having control over work and free time throughout the day fulfills basic human needs and contributes to well-being (Tuisk, Virtanen, de Bloom, & Kinnunen, 2016). When demands of work are high and job control is low, employees experience greater stress (Sonnentag & Zijlstra, 2016). When the employee has greater job control, the need for recovery decreases (Sonnentag & Zijlstra, 2016). The experience of work-related flow during the workday positively affected the level of energy resources at the end of the day (Demerouti et al., 2012). Learning new skills and undertaking new challenges through mastery experiences may be instrumental in restoring energy resources (Sonnentag & Fritz, 2007). Clark et al. (2014) suggested trying new exercise classes or participating in other types of physical activities reduce stress and restore energy. Goswami and Burnell (2016) examined the mastery experiences of yoga and reflexology as strategies for creating renewing energy.

Considerable research has been conducted examining strategies for recovery during non-work time in the evenings and during the weekend (Clinton et al., 2017; Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005; Sonnentag et al., 2014). This type of recovery is referred to as *external recovery* (Ragsdale et al., 2016). A review of current literature revealed fewer studies on recovery during the workday (Dababneh et al., 2001; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). Recovery at work is referred to as *internal recovery* (Clark et al., 2014; Dababneh et al., 2001; De Bloom et al., 2017; Derks, Van Mierlo, & Schmitz, 2014; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). Employees spend up to half their day at work (Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). Psychological and emotional resources will be used predicting the need for recovery before the end of the workday (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009).

The need for recovery is cyclic (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). The degree of engagement in activities determines the level of energy available. Although individuals may experience great stress at work, a single day of stress may not drain all energy (Bakker, San-Vergel, Rodriguez-Munoz, & Orlemans, 2015). Individuals have a reservoir of personal energy resources (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). The level of vigor and energy will fluctuate within a day and over the course of several days (Sonnentag & Niessen, 2008). It is important to maintain a sustainable level of energy to facilitate optimal performance (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). The goal is to increase capacity of energy for the long run. Implementing behavioral changes helps preserve and bolster energy levels (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Berman (2005) suggested different strategies are required to address the mental, emotional, spiritual or physical aspects of personal energy. Senior managers should explore and consider a range of strategies to determine the most effective ones for their particular energy needs (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). In this current study, I sought to gain an understanding of the strategies senior managers employed to manage and restore their energy. Based upon this literature review, the following seven strategies may be useful in managing energy.

Employ flow. Creating flow in the workplace is beneficial. It allows an individual to develop skills and increase resources. Flow is a short-term positive experience characterized by intrinsic motivation, absorption in a task, and enjoyment in one's job (Sonnentag & Zijlstra, 2006). Demerouti et al. (2012) suggested flow is a holistic sensation individuals experience when they have feelings of pleasure and self-control regarding their job. Cultivating flow increases job control and decreases the need for recovery (Sonnentag & Zijlstra, 2006). A positive state of flow increases resiliency in stressful situations and builds mental, physical, psychological, and social resources (Demerouti et al., 2012).

Garner organizational support for job crafting and job design. When an employee has the autonomy to craft and design their job and work characteristics, they are motivated to excel in performance (Karatepe & Eslamlou, 2017). Demerouti, Bakker, and Gevers (2015) identified dimensions for successful job crafting. Altering a job's physical task boundaries allows a person to redesign tasks to align with personal skill sets (Jalonen, Kinnunen, Pulkkinen, & Kokko, 2015). Altering the job's cognitive task boundaries influences the individual's perception of the job (Bruning & Campion, 2018). Altering the relational boundaries provides permission to determine whom the person must interact with in the course of completing work (Demerouti et al., 2015). Having the autonomy creates a spiral of resources to meet job demands (Gordon et al., 2018; Karatepe & Eslamlou, 2017).

Practice meditation and mindfulness. Reduce stress levels by incorporating meditation and mindfulness practices into the workday (Hulsheger, Lang, Depenbrock, Fehrmann, Ziljstra, & Alberts, 2014). Meditation may help an individual to clear their mind of clutter and develop resiliency (Webb & Rosenbaum, 2019). Meditation may help an individual reach a state of calmness in the midst of a stressful environment (Heckenberg, Eddy, Kent, & Wright, 2018; Webb & Rosenbaum, 2019). In another study, researchers examined the effects of mindfulness on the relationship between hope and stress. Hope is a prominent psychological state helping a person build resiliency, gain confidence in abilities, and achieve recovery during times of stress and high job demands (Munoz et al., 2018). With mindfulness, a person intentionally focuses on the current moment without judgment (Keating & Heslin, 2015; Sharp-Donahoo et al, 2018). This practice promotes psychological detachment facilitating recovery (Hulsheger et al., 2014).

Work the body. Engaging in physical activity lowers stress and decreases the need for recovery (Formanoy et al., 2016). Continued exposure to stress in the workplace, without intermittent recovery, may lead to long-term health concerns and may result in suboptimal work performance. Exercising in the evening does contribute to vigor for the start of the next workday (see Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005; Sonnentag et al., 2008; Watanabe et al., 2016). Individuals who routinely incorporate exercise into their daily rituals have higher cardiorespiratory fitness allowing them to cope with workplace stress (Ginoux, Isoard-Gautheur, & Sarazin, 2019; Taylor et al., 2013). Having vigor and energy increases the likelihood of establishing and maintaining an exercise routine (Watanabe et al., 2016). Yoga, walking, and studio cycling may boost energy levels (Cocchiara et al., 2019; Formanoy et al., 2016; Goswami & Burnell, 2016).

Seek green space. Seeking green space during the workday may be beneficial. Outdoor green spaces provide a place for relieving stress. Taking a walk, smelling the flora in gardens, or relaxing in a park may improve an individual's mood (De Bloom et al., 2017). Access to green space encourages physical exercise, increases opportunities for social interaction, and improves mental well-being (De Bloom et al., 2017). Both outdoor and indoor exposure to green space may contribute to psychological restoration (Lee, Williams, Sargent, Williams, & Johnson, 2015). The exposure influences emotions by creating a space for calm and reflection (Lee et al., 2015). The green space produces a buffer between work-family stress and overall health (Kaplan, 1995; Lee et al., 2015). Plants within the office space and nature views from the office may increase creativity (Colley, Brown, & Montarzino, 2017; Korpela, De Bloom, & Kinnunen, 2015).

Cultivate spirituality and embrace positivity. Cultivating spirituality aids the discovery of what is meaningful in one's life (Afsar & Badir, 2017). Focusing on the most important things and placing less focus on less valuable things may help alleviate stress (Afsar & Badir, 2017). The concept of *spirituality* has numerous meanings. Spirituality may be prayer, a set of moral principles, or the belief in a sovereign higher power (Sharp-Donahoo et al, 2018). It serves as the basis for determining the significance of one's life (Long & Driscoll, 2015). For others, spirituality may be a connection with nature or other sources (Guillen, Ferrero, & Hoffman, 2015). Spiritual resources may enhance personal resiliency and increase belief in the ability to influence the environment (Altaf & Awan, 2011; Bickerton et al., 2015). Geue (2018) suggested there is a link between overall health and positivity. Positive thinking may improve psychological wellbeing and help lower stress hormones (Becker et al., 2016; Dettmers et al., 2016). Engaging in positive self-talk, embracing an affirmation, and socializing with positiveminded people are effective strategies for enhancing positivity (Keating & Heslin, 2015). A positive mindset is a critical resource in managing stress and unleashing positive organizational behaviors such as engagement and performance (Keating & Heslin, 2015).

Take a break. When demands in the office are high, taking a short break may help reduce stress and restore energy resources (Zacher et al., 2014). Meditating, socializing with friends, or engaging in creative activities may boost energy levels (Rhee & Kim, 2016; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009; Zacher et al., 2014). A break that is ill-timed or not controlled by the individual, may further drain energy resources (Trougakos et al., 2014). Recovery is possible when stress demands cease, and the length of the break is long enough to provide recovery.

Gaps in the Literature

Researchers have spent considerable time examining how individuals manage tasks, time, and resources to achieve optimal performance (Anaza et al., 2016; Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Much of the contemporary literature fails to examine personal energy as a resource. The scant research on energy management addresses replenishing energy outside of the workplace (Berman, 2005; Kinnunen et al., 2015). The demands of work suggest there is a need to understand how individuals manage and restore energy at work (Cole et al., 2012; Sonnentag & Niessen, 2008). Research on energy management may fill this gap and provide useful insight on how to recognize the predictors of energy loss and the subsequent consequences for not managing and recovering the lost energy. In this current study, I addressed this gap by examining the experiences of female senior managers trying to manage and replenish energy.

Summary and Conclusions

The resource of energy is necessary to perform work at an optimal level (Berman, 2005). Work demands deplete energy of employees during the workday (Berman, 2005; Sonnentag & Niessen, 2008). In this study, I examined how federal senior managers managed their energy. Energy is not a limitless resource. Individuals must recognize the factors contributing to energy loss. They should develop strategies to mitigate the losses and prepare for future requirements. Managing energy increases vitality and helps

regulate behaviors and emotions in the workplace (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Having sufficient energy helps an individual increase the capacity to perform (Berman, 2005).

Managers face additional challenges in the workplace. Public sector managers face changing priorities, reduced resources, and fewer personnel to accomplish the same amount of work requirements (OPM, 2019b). This current study has practical implications for organizations. As organizational leaders promulgate strategies to promote and achieve economic, environmental, and social sustainability, they are beginning to understand the importance of creating strategies for human sustainability (Stan, 2018). Developing a workforce focused on protecting and preserving the vital energy resource may help improve productivity, proficiency, and the occupational health and well-being of employees at all levels (Berman, 2005; Pluta & Rudawska, 2016; Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017).

47

Chapter 3: Methodology

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to understand how senior managers in the public sector manage their energy while at work. Energy is the amount of vigor or vitality a person has to accomplish work (Berman, 2005). In the current study, energy was mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical domains. Having insufficient stores of any of these domains may negatively impair or affect another. For example, low physical energy may affect behaviors regulating emotional intelligence or mental capacity (Boekhorst et al., 2017; Ju, Qin, Xu, & DiRenzo, 2016; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). This chapter includes information on the qualitative research design and the rationale for the selection of this approach for the study. Using a phenomenological design, I explored the experiences of senior managers regulating their energy at work. Participants were asked to share their perspectives and lived experiences of the phenomenon of personal energy management. Additionally, participants were asked to describe their challenges in managing and restoring their energy while meeting the demands of work. Interviews were conducted to collect data describing the phenomenon.

This chapter includes a description of the role of the researcher. It also provides a discussion of the methodology including the participant selection process, data collection and analysis process, ethical considerations, and trustworthiness. I used a hermeneutic phenomenological design to explore participants' lived experiences of managing energy.

Research Design and Rationale

The purpose of this study was to examine how senior managers in the public sector managed their mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical energy while at work. I

examined what it was like for senior managers to experience trying to manage and restore energy while at work. A review of contemporary literature revealed a sparse amount of research on the topic of managing and restoring personal energy during the course of the workday. As work is completed, personal energy is depleted necessitating the need to restore and replenish energy for the next task or demand (Derks et al., 2014; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). I used a hermeneutic phenomenological design to examine the phenomenon of personal energy management. The study was guided by three questions:

RQ1: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work?

RQ2: What is it like to experience trying to replenish energy while at work?

RQ3: What are the perceived challenges to successfully managing energy at work?

Research Design

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to gain an understanding of the lived experiences of female senior managers trying to manage and renew energy while at work. A hermeneutic phenomenological design was appropriate to explore the meaning of lived experiences and personal perspectives of senior managers seeking to manage energy. As an inductive research paradigm, the qualitative approach allows a researcher to examine a phenomenon by illuminating experiences and capturing personal stories of those who have lived the phenomenon under study (Crowther, Ironside, Spense, & Smythe, 2017). A hermeneutic approach is used to understand how individuals view the meaning of the lived experience of the phenomenon in their lives. The researcher may converse with and observe participants in natural settings instead of in a laboratory setting (Yin, 2011). The events and experiences emerging from the study represent the values and meanings for a pool of participants with diverse experiences. Use of a phenomenological approach is intended to uncover the contextual conditions under which the participants experienced the phenomenon (Yin, 2011). A phenomenological design focuses on the meaning of the phenomenon for the participants, not the meaning to the individual conducting the research (Maxwell, 2013).

Rationale for the Design

In qualitative studies, a researcher might use various designs including phenomenological, case study, narrative, ethnographic, or grounded theory (Creswell, 2014). The phenomenological approach is used to capture the essence of experiences of a selected phenomenon (Sloan & Bowe, 2014). A hermeneutic phenomenological approach helps the researcher capture the uniqueness of participants' experiences (Yin, 2011). In the current study, interviews were used to explore and gain insight into the lived experiences of women managing energy in the public sector. Literature on experiences of managing energy in the workplace was scant. A phenomenological study was conducted to capture the experiences and perspectives of senior managers (see Sloan & Bowe, 2014).

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative studies, the researcher is a key instrument. Unlike quantitative research, which relies on questionnaires or inventories for data, qualitative research relies on the researcher to serve as a human instrument (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The researcher collects, analyzes, and interprets data to gain an understanding of views, experiences, and

perspectives of study participants (Yin, 2011). With a hermeneutic approach, a researcher delves deeper by considering the complexities of the phenomenon and varying perspectives and experiences of individuals. My role as this instrument was to inform readers of my biases, experiences, assumptions, or expectations regarding the phenomenon. Sharing this information demonstrated my qualifications and abilities to conduct the study as an objective viewer.

My role as the researcher was to access the feelings, perspectives, and thoughts of the participants regarding managing their energy. I did this by conducting semistructured interviews. Participants selected the interview setting. This ensured their comfort and confidence in the process (Bahn & Weatherill, 2013; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I asked questions to understand the experiences of participants in trying to manage and restore their energy. Asking probing questions encouraged and facilitated deeper conversation about their experiences and views on the topic.

I used an interview protocol during the interview process. Creswell (2014) described the interview protocol as a useful guide for conducting interviews. Interview questions can be arranged to help participants feel comfortable with the process and open up more as the session progresses (see Appendix A). The interview questions were informed by the study's research questions. Well-conceived research questions give shape and provide direction for phenomenological studies (Creswell, 2014; Patton, 2015). I used a journal to record participants' responses. I observed and annotated their behavior, voice tones, and body language during the interview. During recruitment, I provided information on the topic of energy management. I provided interview questions in advance of the interview. I sought permission from the participants to use an audio recorder during the interview.

Researchers should avoid selecting participants from their orbit of influence or association (Patton, 2015). I did not recruit participants from my office and did not recruit participants with whom I have a personal or professional relationship. Prior to conducting interviews, I shared my background with the participants. I am currently not a supervisor. I have 20 years of experience supervising in previous organizations while serving in the military. Although I shared a common background of supervising, I respected the fact that participants' experiences and interpretations of energy management were unique. Moustakas (1994) suggested that researchers should set aside any preconceived notions or predispositions regarding the phenomenon under examination. I adhered to this epoche process by bracketing my personal experiences and considering fresh perspectives (see Creswell, 2014; Patton, 2015).

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

Senior managers are responsible for the day-to-day operations and execution of agency policies. As the environment changes, requirements and priorities shift. In phenomenological research, a researcher gathers information on the lived experiences of participants regarding a specific phenomenon (Yin, 2011). I used this approach to understand the essence of senior managers' experiences of trying to manage energy at work. Researcher's conducting phenomenological studies consider a range of sampling techniques (Creswell, 2014). I used purposeful sampling to recruit participants. Yin (2011) emphasized that this strategy meets the intent of qualitative research in gaining insight into specific rather than generalized experiences.

In qualitative research, it is essential to have a unit of study or analysis to examine a phenomenon (Patton, 2015; Yin, 2011). This study included the recruitment of female senior managers working in the public sector in the NCR. The population included senior managers who had held their current supervisory positions for a minimum of 1 year.

Sampling Strategy

Female senior managers were selected through purposeful sampling based on these criteria: (a) held current position in the NCR for a minimum of 1 year, (b) had a supervisory position, (c) worked in a GS-14 or GS-15 position, and (d) had a general understanding of the concept of energy as described in the recruitment letter (see Appendix B). Creswell (2014) suggested the sample size in qualitative research should be based on the study's intent of obtaining the broadest range of perspectives. The goal was to have a sample of seven to 15 female senior managers; however, the sample size would be adjusted based on reaching a suitable level of saturation. Patton (2015) suggested using a small sample size allows a researcher to gather extensive detail on a phenomenon via access to contextual data of the experiences of the participants. Yin (2011) suggested researchers should be able to exercise discretion in determining an appropriate sample size for a given study. Researchers gather sufficient data to inform the study. A researcher achieves data saturation when they deem all new information on the topic is exhausted and the addition of more information may not enhance the findings (Creswell, 2014). Giorgi (2009) emphasized examining the viewpoint of consciousness of each

participant in the study to help understand what meaning the participant ascribed to the phenomenon and how the meaning was given.

Instrumentation, Pilot Study, and Data Collection

In phenomenological research, the researcher is the instrument responsible for collecting the data (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The researcher determines the best interview approach to obtain the data supporting and informing the study (Yin, 2011). For the current study, a semistructured interview was used to collect data about the meaning of phenomenon for each participant. It is important to examine the story behind the experiences (Patton, 2015).

A pilot study can be helpful in designing research studies and instruments. Researchers may use pilot studies to test and refine the instruments for a study. A pilot study may take a variety of forms. For example, the pilot study may include testing research instruments such as the study's interview questionnaire. The pilot study may include assessing a research design to determine the appropriateness of the approach for a study (Yin, 2011). Ravitch and Carl (2016) suggested a pilot study helps establish content validity by ensuring the interview questions support the study's overarching research questions and topic of study. Testing the interview questions provides an opportunity for a researcher to refine the questions or add new questions that will elicit richer data for the study.

A pilot study is a small-scale version of an intended study. The participants of a pilot study are required to meet the same study criteria as outlined for the final study. Participants for the pilot study met the following criteria: (a) female supervisors in the

grade of GS-14 or GS15, (b) employed for a minimum of 1 year in a current position in a federal agency within the NCR, and (c) had a general understanding of the concept of energy as described in the recruitment letter (see Appendix B). Purposeful sampling of participants aids the researcher in eliciting answers to interview questions addressing the research problem and answering the research questions.

For the pilot study, I interviewed two participants meeting the criteria of the study. I recruited potential participants using a recruitment letter (see Appendix B). Interested volunteers received the informed consent form via email and were asked to sign the form acknowledging the purpose and plan for the study. I conducted face-to-face interviews to help refine the research instruments. I used the modified version of the Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen Method to facilitate data analysis (see Moustakas, 1994).

To ensure quality in the study, the researcher should organize all aspects of the data collection process (see Patton, 2015). The structure helps a researcher keep the study focused. Creswell (2014) categorized essential data into the areas of (a) interviews, (b) observations, (c) documents, and (d) audiovisual materials. In this study, I used a combination of these tools to collect data. This structured format included the development of an interview protocol (see Appendix A). The interview protocol contained the interview details and protocol actions, a brief set of demographic questions, and a series of open-ended questions.

A review of current literature on energy management formed the basis for research instrument. Using the study's three overarching research questions, I developed a set of open-ended interview questions to guide the discussion of the meaning of the phenomenon of energy management (see Appendix A). Open-ended questions are beneficial for examining an unfamiliar or understudied phenomenon or topic (Rubin, H. & Rubin, I, 2012). The preferred method for the interview was face-to-face interviews.

During interviews, a researcher has the flexibility to probe and follow topicrelated trajectories occurring during the interview (Patton, 2015). This flexibility in the process gives participants the freedom and latitude to share the meaning of their experiences. The anticipated length of the interviews in this current study was 45 to 60 minutes. A researcher may need to follow up with participants to get clarification on data provided (Rubin, H. & Rubin, I., 2012). In this current study, participants had the opportunity to provide clarification or additional information. This process of member checking adds credibility and internal validity in the process (Simon & Goes, 2013).

I used journaling and audio recordings in the data collection process. During interviews, researchers can observe participants. The researcher may gain valuable information from observing nonverbal communication and documenting in the journal (Patton, 2015). I used an audio recorder to record interviews and employed the use of an IRB-approved transcriptionist to transcribe the interview content. To protect the privacy of the participants and the data, the transcriptionist signed a confidentiality agreement.

I received permission from the IRB prior to recruiting participants and commencing the data collection process. I sought participants through professional and social networking. As potential participants expressed interest, I forwarded an invitation letter via email (see Appendix B). Upon accepting the invitation to participate, the participant signed a consent form confirming the intent to participate. A researcher has a responsibility to protect the privacy of participants during the data collection process (Patton, 2015). I also signed a confidentiality form attesting to the commitment to protect participants' privacy and the data. Protecting the privacy of the participants and the data helps mitigate harm or potential risks to participants. During the collection process, I used codes such as Participant 01 to identify each manager. The goal was to have between 7 and 15 participants. If I had failed to receive a desired number of participants from the initial invitation, I planned to conduct another round of invitations.

Data Analysis Plan

Qualitative research uses non-numerical data to describe the experiences of participants regarding a specific phenomenon (Patton, 2015). In this, I generated a voluminous amount of data describing feelings, experiences, characteristics, and perspectives on the phenomenon. Use of an interview protocol facilitates the collection of data from interviews, notes, and recordings (Yin, 2011). In this study, I analyzed data by coding and identifying categories and themes in the data (see Saldaña, 2016). During the initial open coding, I reviewed data and created broad labels for the various experiences or meanings that emerged in the data. It is appropriate for the researcher to make note of any discrepant data that appears outside of other similar emerging patterns in the research (see Yin, 2011).

Computer-assisted data analysis software is available for use in qualitative data analysis. This data analysis software aids in organizing data and data analysis. I used NVivo to assist with comparing and contrasting participants' responses and to assist with noting themes or patterns. Using the software helped me extract a deeper-level analysis of the data. Axial coding allows a researcher to examine data by identifying relationships between the open codes (Saldaña, 2016). I used a modified version of the Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen (SCK) method described by Moustakas (1994) for use in phenomenological data analysis. The SCK technique incorporates several steps:

- 1. Researcher articulates personal experiences with the study's phenomenon.
- 2. Create a list of significant statements from participant's experiences.
- 3. Develop thematic categories of the significant statements.
- 4. Compose a textual description of *what* participants experienced with the phenomenon.
- 5. Compose a structural description of *how* participants experienced the phenomenon.
- 6. Compose a composite narrative describing the integration of the textual and structural descriptions of the phenomenon.

Qualitative research design conveys a linkage between a study's research

questions and the study's interview questions (Yin, 2011). This study conveyed the

following linkages between data collection method and interview questions.

RQ1: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work?

- Tell me about your typical day.
- How do you define energy in relation to performing the job?
- Describe your level of vigor when you arrive at work.
- How do you recognize and gauge your energy levels?

- What is it like to experience a state of high energy? How is that expressed in your work?
- What is it like to experience a state of low energy? How is that expressed in your work?
- When your energy is high, what is it like to manage it to ensure you have personal energy to continue to perform and meet future work demands?
- What is it like to handle aspects of your position as a senior manager when experiencing high energy?
- What is it like to match energy output with your stores of energy?
- What does it mean to you to experience feelings of vigor and vitality while at work?

RQ2: What is it like to experience trying to replenish energy while at work?

- When your energy is low, what is it like to restore it to ensure you have personal energy to meet future work demands?
- What is it like to handle aspects of your position as a senior manager when experiencing low energy?
- How often during the workday do you take actions to renew your energy, and what types of activities, strategies, or experiences do you engage in to renew energy?
- If you have a strategy which helps to restore energy, what is that strategy? Why does this strategy work?
RQ3: What are the perceived challenges to successfully managing energy while at work?

• What is your perception of the challenges or obstacles you may face in trying to manage or replenish your energy while at work?

Issues of Trustworthiness

It is important for a researcher to establish trustworthiness in qualitative research. Unlike quantitative research that relies on numerical data, qualitative research addresses trustworthiness through other validity measures and reliability (Yin, 2011). The criteria used to establish trustworthiness includes credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Shenton, 2004).

Credibility

Credibility is the most critical criterion for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Simon & Goes, 2013). Credibility is satisfied when the researcher clearly shows evidence of alignment between the findings of a study and reality (Simon & Goes, 2013). Establishing credibility ensures the study has internal validity (Simon & Goes, 2013). A researcher should identify methods to protect a study from potential threats to validity. A researcher may consider numerous techniques and strategies to promote confidence in the study. Shenton (2004) highlighted the importance of providing a rich, detailed description of the study's phenomenon. This strategy adds credibility by conveying actual contextual experiences under investigation. It is important for a researcher to note reflective commentary as the study evolves (Shenton, 2004). This strategy adds to the credibility of the study.

Yin (2011) noted the use and adoption of clear research methods aid in confirming credibility. Following established qualitative methods using an interview protocol and a method for data analysis lends itself to confirming credibility (Shenton, 2004). The strategy of triangulation helps confirm credibility (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Maxwell, 2013). Member checking is critical for bolstering the credibility in a study (Yin, 2011). Participants may make adjustments or provide clarification when reviewing their interview (Creswell, 2014).

Transferability

External validity or transferability describes the extent to which a study's findings are applicable to other situations, contexts, or populations (Maxwell, 2013). Qualitative studies usually involve a small number of participants, situations, or environments relative to a specific phenomenon. Conventional generalizability is difficult to achieve. Lincoln & Guba (1985) suggested a researcher does not have the responsibility to furnish an index of transferability. The researcher's responsibility is to produce a collection of data results that facilitate the transfer of judgements of the meaning of the study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Dependability

Dependability is a counterpart to reliability in quantitative research. The researcher collects evidence to promulgate the claim that, if repeated, a similar study would yield similar results. A researcher should employ several strategies to assist with establishing dependability. Keeping an audit trail during the process is important. I maintained a journal to capture notes, data, personal reflections, and the rationale for

methodological decisions in my study. Triangulation also supports dependability. Triangulation uses different methods of data collection, cross checking of data, and the use of multiple theoretical frameworks. I used triangulation to help assess the validity of this current study.

Confirmability

Confirmability is akin to objectivity in quantitative research. Confirmability is the researcher's attempt to control biases and remain neutral (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I maintained objectivity through personal reflection throughout the process. Other strategies to establish confirmability are triangulation and reflexivity. Reflexivity describes the attitude a researcher adopts in research (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I considered my personal thoughts and feelings about the phenomenon to mitigate bias. I annotated personal reflections, challenges, notes on the process, and the reasoning behind my decisions during the study see (Maxwell, 2013).

Researchers should not lead participants to preconceived conclusions. My role was to understand their experiences and not interject my personal views. I used a transcriptionist to accurately capture data and facilitate inter-coder reliability. The strategy of confirmability verifies findings and results.

Ethical Procedures

In human science research, the researcher has ethical responsibilities. Adherence to ethical standards promotes knowledge and truth in qualitative research (Creswell, 2014). The nature of the researcher-participant relationship presents potential ethical concerns. It is appropriate to seek guidance and gain approval of an Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB assesses potential risks to the psychological, social, legal, and physical harm to human participants. I sought approval to commence with participant recruitment and data collection from the IRB at Walden University. This current study was designed and conducted based upon the several ethical considerations.

Informed Consent

Obtaining voluntary informed consent protects human subjects in research (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The researcher obtains informed consent prior to starting data collection. The plan for the study should be straightforward and understandable to potential participants. The researcher should recruit volunteers in a coercive manner. The researcher should not promise extravagant compensation or leverage previous or existing relationships to obtain participants.

I explained the purpose of the study, the nature of the study, the role of participants, and the potential benefits and risks of the study. I informed the participants the purpose of the study was to gain an understanding of experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy. The nature of the study was a qualitative phenomenological study. This design was best for examining the meaning of participants' experiences. Participants were asked to participate in semi-structured interviews to share information on the meaning of experiences with energy management. A participant had the right to refuse to answer any of the questions and could withdraw from the study without bias at any time. A researcher should have a plan to share the study results with participants (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The interests of the participants should prevail over the interests of the study (Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Confidentiality

A researcher has the responsibility to protect the identity of participants and the privacy of their information. The participant pool in qualitative research is normally small, increasing the need to maintain confidentiality in the study. I protected the identity of participants by assigning fictitious names or codes for each participant. I assigned unique codes such as P01 to each participant. Researchers document the intent to protect privacy by signing a confidentiality statement. During the study, the researcher may use professional services to assist with transcribing interviews. The transcriptionist was asked to sign a confidentiality statement. For this current study, I maintained all data collected and research notes in a locked file and in a password-protected computer to ensure security of participant data (see Bahn & Weatherill, 2013). The data will be archived for five years in accordance with the IRB guidelines outlined by Walden University and will be destroyed in the appropriate manner.

Beneficence

Researchers should maximize benefits and minimize psychological, physical, and social risks (Maxwell, 2013). My study was designed and conducted in a manner that minimized any undue risk to participants. A researcher has the responsibility to consider and weigh the benefits of the study with potential risks to the participants. The risks may include privacy, relationship, psychological, physical, or other personal risks that may cause undue stress for participants (Yin, 2011).

IRB Approval

The research study was reviewed by the Walden University IRB for compliance with human research and ethical standards. It was determined to meet institutional standards. Permission to conduct this study was granted by the Walden Institutional Review Board (IRB), approval #12-03-19-0660542.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to examine female senior managers' experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. I also sought to understand what participants perceived as challenges to managing energy during the course of the workday. A hermeneutic research approach was an appropriate design to study and gain an understanding of the phenomenon of energy management (Creswell, 2014). This design approach enables a researcher to represent participants' views, examine the meaning of participant's lives, and explain and understand events (Yin, 2011).

This chapter described the research design, role of the researcher, participant selection logic, data collection and analysis, and ethical considerations. A hermeneutic phenomenological approach aided in examining and interpreting the participants' experiences, perspectives, and meanings of the experiences. I was the instrument in the research process. I proceeded with the study in a planned and measured way by using an interview protocol. After receiving IRB approval to proceed with the study, I recruited volunteers to participate in the study. Criteria for participation in the study were presented in a participant recruitment letter (see Appendix B). Participants had a general understanding of the concept of energy, as outlined in the letter and had a willingness to

share experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. They were asked to participate in an in-depth semi-structured interview and were asked questions designed to support the study's research questions. To ensure the sufficiency of the questions, I conducted a pilot study. Pilot studies aid in testing and refining a study's instruments, such as the interview questionnaire (see Yin, 2011). I recruited two participants for the pilot study using the same criteria as the final study.

I recruited senior managers from the NCR. The NCR is home to numerous federal agencies making it a favorable locale to find participants who meet the criteria of the study. The current study included 14 participants meeting the criteria of the study. Participants were female managers and had been in the current supervisory position within the NCR for a minimum of one year. The participants were either in the grade of GS-14 or GS-15.

An interview protocol provides structure in a study and facilitates the organization and management of the data (Creswell, 2014). The protocol for this study included a bank of informal, open-ended interview questions supporting the study's research. The use of semi-structured interviews allowed me to collect rich data from participants on experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy. During data analysis, I wrote field notes to aid in understanding and organizing data collected for the study.

The Stevik-Colaizzi-Keen (SCK) method provided a structured approach for data collection (see Moustakas, 1994). The aforementioned research design provided a roadmap for the remaining phases of the research study. Coding, identifying themes,

analyzing data, and interpreting data facilitated the data analysis procedures. I used NVivo 12 software for the data analysis.

Qualitative research design involves human subjects making it important to adhere to ethical guidelines and standards. I followed the informed consent process, maintained confidentiality in the study, and sought to avoid any physical, personal, or psychological harm to participants. The remaining chapters of the current study include discussions on data collection and analysis, findings of the study, results, and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to gain an understanding of the lived experiences of females trying to manage and renew energy while at work. Participants included female managers working in the public sector within the NCR. This qualitative study was guided by three research questions:

RQ1: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work?

RQ2: What is it like to experience trying to replenish energy while at work?

RQ3: What are the perceived challenges to successfully managing energy at work?

These questions were designed to address the phenomenon of trying to manage and replenish energy while still at work by gaining insight into the meaning of the experiences of the participants. This chapter begins with a brief discussion of the impact of the pilot study on the main study. The chapter also includes discussion of the setting, participant demographics, and processes used for collecting and analyzing data. Finally, I provide evidence of the trustworthiness of the study, study results, and a summary.

Pilot Study

I used a pilot study to evaluate and refine the instrument for use in the final study. Yin (2011) suggested a pilot study gives a researcher an opportunity to assess the appropriateness of the intended research design. Participants for the pilot study met the same criteria described for use in the final study: (a) female supervisor in the grade of GS-14 or GS-15, (b) worked in their current position for a minimum of 1 year with a federal agency located within the NCR, and (c) have a basic understanding of the concept of energy as outlined in the participant recruitment letter (see Appendix B). I identified the participants through professional networking. I sent current and former Walden University doctoral students and peers an email with the participant recruitment letter (see Appendix B) informing them I was conducting a qualitative study on managing and replenishing personal energy. This effort resulted in 29 individuals expressing interest in participating. My initial data collection plan included using LinkedIn as the primary source for recruiting participants. LinkedIn is a social media platform used for professional and personal networking. Because the networking effort in the pilot study resulted in an overwhelming interest, I delayed the use of LinkedIn as the primary source. If those showing an initial interest in the study chose not to participate or became unavailable, I would have used LinkedIn.

Two respondents participated in the pilot study. After agreeing to participate, the respondents were provided the interview protocol (see Appendix A), the informed consent form, and a confidentiality statement. I used the codes PS1 and PS2 to identify participants while preserving privacy of the data (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I conducted face-to-face interviews using open-ended questions (see Appendix A). The interviews were transcribed and reviewed to identify emerging themes and to locate segments of information related to a particular research questions.

A pilot study is instrumental in identifying weaknesses or problems with the design of the study (Yin, 2011). My interview questions elicited information supporting the overarching research questions, negating the need to make changes to the design of

the study or interview protocol. The pilot study did not indicate problems or weaknesses in the interview protocol or study design.

Setting

The setting is the conditions or environment of a study. The setting in the current study included organizational or personal conditions that may have influenced participants or their recollection of their experiences of managing and replenishing energy at the time of the interview. The interviews were conducted during the holiday months of December and January, making the scheduling of interviews more challenging. Other personal conditions may have influenced some of the participants. Participants may have responded differently when responding via a teleconference versus a face-to-face setting.

The personal conditions of five participants may have impacted or influenced their experiences of managing and replenishing energy. Participant 12 was preparing to take an administrative leave for 3 years to accompany her spouse to an overseas location. This would have been the first time she would not be working since the start of her career. Participants 1 and 13 experienced divorce and were rearing children alone or in a co-parenting situation. Participant 9 was married to a retired spouse who preferred her to curtail overtime work. This situation sometimes caused stress for the participant as she tried to balance work needs with family expectations. Participant 10 recently moved into a new home. I highlighted these conditions to acknowledge the potential impact or influence on experiences.

Demographics

The demographic information included gender, age, time in current position, years of supervising, and confirmation of employment with a federal agency. The study included 14 participants. The demographic information for participants is in Table 2. Participants ranged in age from 40 to 62. The years of supervision ranged from 2 years to 30 years.

Table 2

Participant	Age	Years of supervision
P01	40	10
P02	41	20
P03	43	4
P04	48	12
P05	48	14
P06	50	14
P07	52	7
P08	53	10
P09	53	21
P10	53	28
P11	57	20
P12	58	15
P13	61	2
P14	62	30

Demographic Overview

Data Collection

In the data collection process, a researcher gathers information to answer the research questions. An interview protocol was the primary method for collecting data (see Appendix A). The protocol included the following information: (a) participant information (last name and identifying code), (b) logistics (date, time, and place of interview), (c) demographic questions, (d) administrative actions (review of informed

consent, study background, interviewer background discussion on audio-taping and member checking, and access to study results), and (e) interview questions. Interviews were scheduled to meet the needs and preferences of each participant. Work schedules, planned holidays, and logistics were the primary factors in scheduling. Face-to-face interviews and telephone interviews were used to collect data from participants. In-person interviews were conducted in the offices of participants. Numerous interviews were conducted via a teleconference to accommodate the participant's preference or for the convenience of the participant. The distance and traffic congestion in the NCR sometimes made it impractical for face-to-face interviews. Seven of the interviews were conducted in person (50%). These included Participants 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 9, and 14. Interviews for the remaining 50% of participants were conducted via teleconference. These included Participants 4, 5, 8, 10, 11, 12, and 13. The data collection time for the interviews ranged from 33 minutes to 56 minutes. See Table 3 for information on the duration of interviews and the medium used to collect data.

Table 3

Participant	Length of interview	Medium
P01	50	F
P02	33	F
P03	34	F
P04	40	Т
P05	33	Т
P06	45	F
P07	35	F
P08	45	Т
P09	43	F
P10	35	Т
P11	33	Т
P12	46	Т
P13	42	Т
P14	56	F

Duration and Collection Medium of Interviews of Study Participants

Note. F =face-to-face, T =telephone.

Semistructured interviews were used to collect data from each of the participants. Each participant provided a complete response to each of the interview questions. A few of the participants provided succinct responses to the questions, while most expounded on their responses; however, responses from all participants included rich information that was beneficial in capturing their experiences of trying to manage energy. The interviews were recorded using voice memos on my cellular telephone. The audio files were transferred to a hard drive on my personal home computer. Each file was coded with a three-digit code for identification purposes and to protect the identity of the participant. The files were also transferred to a professional transcriptionist via the use of a secure password-protected Dropbox file. After each interview was transcribed, I reviewed the content before forwarding to the participant for member checking. Simon and Goes (2013) suggested the use of member checking in the data collection process adds internal validity and credibility to the qualitative research process.

The study included one variation in the initial data collection plan. The original plan indicated that LinkedIn would be used as the primary source for recruiting participants and collecting data. Instead, I used personal and professional networking to recruit participants for the pilot study. The networking effort included outreach to current and former Walden University doctoral students and community organizations. I provided the participant recruitment letter (see Appendix B) to these professional and personal contacts. As potential candidates emailed me expressing an interest in participating in the study, I responded to confirm their intention and to confirm they met the selection criteria. The initial interest shown through this process was overwhelming and provided a large pool of interested and qualified potential candidates. Participant referrals through this snowball sampling method yielded 29 potential participants. The final study included 14 participants from each source as follows: Walden University student referrals (five), community organization (two), and study participant referrals/snowball sampling (seven).

I encountered minimal unusual circumstances during the data collection process. The interview with Participant 4 was a telephone interview. About five minutes into the interview, one of her employees interrupted the interview. A few minutes later the call dropped as Participant 4 entered the elevator on her way out of the office. We continued the telephone call during her drive home. A dropped call resulted in a break during the interview with Participant 8. I took field notes for all the interviews. I noted nonverbal cues during face-to-face interviews and made notes on the tones and inflections in voices of those who interviewed via a teleconference.

Data Analysis

The data analysis process in a qualitative research design involves examining data to gain an understanding of experiences of a phenomenon (Yin, 2011). It is important to us an organized and structured process to analyze the data. I used a modified version of the Moustakas (1994) SCK method for analyzing the data in this phenomenological study. The SCK method provided a useful technique for describing and categorizing data collected in the interviews. The coding process for this study was logical and included inductive and deductive reasoning within three different cyclical phases. Inductive reasoning, a bottom-up process, starts with an observation of units or parts of the whole and finishes with generalizations. Deductive reasoning starts with the generalization and finishes with units or parts of the whole (a top-down review). The phases of coding included open coding, axial coding, and selective coding.

Open coding is the process for analyzing the textual content of data. The first pass involves line-by-line coding of the data to develop descriptive or illustrative themes and to designate category titles. The first phase also included in vivo coding, which facilitated the selection of specific words and phrases for titling purposes. Axial coding helps a researcher find emerging themes and patterns (see Simon & Goes). In this second phase, I started clustering, merging, retitling, and eliminating some categories (see Simon & Goes, 2013). The third phase is selective coding, which involves the deepest level of the analysis (Maxwell, 2013). I interpreted and synthesized the meaning of the data by comparing and contrasting themes. The transcribed interviews were uploaded into NVivo 12 software for coding and sorting.

I used the strategy of member checking to provide evidence of credibility. Simon and Goes (2013) noted member checking allows the participant to review the content of the interview transcript to confirm responses and intended meanings. After member checking, I emailed each verified transcript to a professional NVivo consultant. The consultant signed a disclosure agreement before preparing and importing the 14 transcribed interviews into NVivo 12. NVivo 12 was used to organize, compare, and contrast interview responses and to highlight patterns and themes. Refinement of the coding resulted in numerous coding reports for the 14 interviews. The coding resulted in the identification of 17 main nodes with 292 subcategories.

Interview Questions and Associated Notes

Three nodes or categories reflected the demographics of the 14 participants: (a) age, (b) years of supervisory experience, and (c) an assigned interview number. An example of the titling process follows: Age40_10-YrSup_I11. Fifteen node titles were created under the node Interview Questions in NVivo 12 qualitative software to correspond to the various interview questions in the interview protocol (see Appendix A). An additional node title labeled Strategies was created from the literature review. The following nodes were identified in relation to the interview questions.

- Q01: Typical day.
- Q02: Energy and performance.
- Q03: Level of vigor in the morning.

- Q04: Gauging energy levels.
- Q05: Expressing high energy.
- Q06: Expressing low energy.
- Q07: Managing energy for demands.
- Q08: Replenishing energy for demands.
- Q09: Performing job with high energy.
- Q10: Performing job with low energy.
- Q11: Replenishing energy how.
- Q12: Best strategy to replenish energy.
- Q13: Challenges in managing energy.
- Q14: Matching energy to resources.
- Q15: Feeling vigorous.

The interview protocol (see Appendix A) included 15 interview questions designed to answer the three research questions. The 15 questions and nodes associated with the related research question are depicted in Table 4.

Table 4

		Corresponding
Interview question	Associated nodes	research question
1	Typical day	RQ1
2	Energy and performance	RQ1
3	Level of vigor in the morning	RQ1
4	Gauging energy levels	RQ1
5	Expressing high energy	RQ1
6	Expressing low energy	RQ1
7	Managing energy for demands	RQ1
8	Replenishing energy for demands	RQ2
9	Performing job with high energy	RQ1
10	Performing job with low energy	RQ1
11	Replenishing energy - how	RQ2
12	Best strategy to replenish energy	RQ2
13	Challenges in managing energy	RQ3
14	Matching energy to resources	RQ1
15	Feeling vigorous	RQ1

Interview Questions, Associated Nodes, and Corresponding Research Question

The initial set of related nodes depicted in Table 4 emerged from a review of the research questions, interview questions, and problem statement. The nodes were used as a foundation for analyzing the data and examining common themes. NVivo 12 and content analysis were used to help identify categories and common themes. After further refinement and merging, the initial set of associated nodes was refined and grouped thematically into five nodes. Table 5 depicts the final set of nodes.

Table 5

		Corresponding research
Associated nodes	Refined node	question
1/3	Typical day	RQ1
2/5/6/7/9/10	Energy and performance	RQ1
4/14	Matching energy to resources	RQ1
13	Challenge in managing energy	RQ3
8/11/12/15	Replenishing energy	RQ2

Associated Nodes, Refined Node, and Corresponding Research Question

The results section contains detailed responses and common themes from the interview questions.

Discrepant Cases

I did not identify any discrepant cases in this current study. All the participants provided responses to all the questions. Using a hermeneutic design, I pursued a deeper exploration in the phenomenon to gain an understanding of each participant's experiences and perspectives of the phenomenon (see Yin, 2011).

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Shenton (2004) noted qualitative research should be credible, plausible, and defensible. Trustworthiness in qualitative research addresses these concerns and provides the validity and reliability in a qualitative research design. Trustworthiness applies to the research design and method, data collection and analysis, and the researcher's role in the study (Shenton, 2004). The criteria describing trustworthiness encompasses the credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability in the study. A researcher may employ numerous strategies to provide evidence of trustworthiness (Shenton, 2004).

Credibility

The most critical criterion for ensuring trustworthiness is credibility. A researcher meets this requirement by ensuring there is evidence of alignment between the findings and reality (Shenton, 2004). I used several strategies to highlight credibility in the study. As part of the interview protocol (see Appendix A), I shared my personal experiences of understanding and managing my energy in the workplace. I used the strategy of bracketing. Moustakas (1994) noted researchers engage in bracketing to separate personal experiences or beliefs from the experiences of the participant. With bracketing, I attempted to set aside my judgments or experiences regarding managing energy. I kept the focus on the participants' experiences of managing the phenomenon. I used journaling to annotate and reflect on my personal experiences of managing and replenishing energy. This exercise helped me to set aside personal biases or preconceived notions of how energy should be managed (see Moustakas, 1994). Member checking bolsters credibility in qualitative research (Yin, 2011). After each interview was transcribed, I provided a copy to each participant for review. Participants confirmed the content of the data. I was cognizant of the requirement to reach saturation in data collection. Data saturation is reached when there appears to be adequate information and data to address research questions, and new information appears exhausted (Maxwell, 2013). I did not make any changes to the credibility strategy proposed in Chapter 3.

Transferability

Transferability (external validity) is the extent to which the findings in a qualitative study are applicable or generalizable to other populations, contexts, or

situations (Maxwell, 2013). I used a systematic and structured approach in the research study to contribute to the external validity. I used purposeful and criterion sampling to select participants for the study. Although all of the participants were female, the participants varied in age and years of supervisory experience. Lincoln and Guba (1985) noted in qualitative research, the researcher has the responsibility to publish a set of results that communicate the meaning and perspectives of the phenomenon for the participants of the particular study. I collected and analyzed the data understanding this principle and acknowledging the data set would not be generalizable to other populations (Maxwell, 2013). I did not make any changes to the transferability strategy proposed in Chapter 3.

Dependability

Dependability is the evidence of consistency within a study. The strategy of dependability in qualitative research mirrors the strategy of reliability in quantitative research (Maxwell, 2013). I used a systematic approach to collect, interpret, analyze, and report the findings to meet this criterion. I used numerous strategies to collect evidence that the execution of a similar study should produce similar results. Audit trails and triangulation are useful strategies for showing dependability. I maintained an audit trail by taking notes during the research process. I used NVivo 12 to produce a record of the interview transcripts, raw data, data codes, and categories. Maxwell (2013) suggested triangulation encompasses different methods of cross-checking information to produce dependability in a study. I conducted interviews allowing participants to share perspectives and the meaning of the phenomenon. I reviewed interview transcripts to

look for emerging themes. I wrote reflections on the process and my personal thoughts. I did not make any changes to the dependability strategy proposed in Chapter 3.

Confirmability

In qualitative studies, researchers bring unique perspectives (Yin, 2011). The strategy of confirmability is used to control biases and to provide evidence the findings are reflective of and shaped by the experiences of the participants. Confirmability is the counterpart to objectivity in quantitative studies (Maxwell, 2013). I used the strategy of reflexivity to ensure confirmability. Lincoln and Guba (1985) noted confirmability reflects the attitude the researcher adopts during the research process. With each interview, I considered and documented my personal views and experiences. I was intentional in not trying to influence or lead participants to any preconceived conclusions on managing and replenishing energy. I did not make any changes to the confirmability strategy that I proposed in Chapter 3.

Results

The purpose of this current study was to examine the central phenomenon of managing energy. During interviews, participants shared detailed and rich data relating to their experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. The interview questions helped answer the three research questions. The results section is organized into the three overarching Research Questions 1 - 3. Each subsection identifies corresponding interview questions, refined nodes with prevalent themes, and a summary of findings. Quotes from participants support the findings.

Research Question 1 Findings

The first research question was as follows: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work? The interview questions served as the basis to answer this research question (see Appendix A).

This section includes discussion on the related refined node and prevalent themes regarding the participants' typical day.

Node: Typical day. I identified four themes: mental and emotional energy, relationships, responsibilities, exercise, and spirituality. The following paragraphs will describe the typical day experiences of participants and will include descriptions of how participants described and viewed their normal typical day. Table 6 includes participants' responses to the node and depicts similar shared thoughts or beliefs associated with the themes.

Table 6

Prevalent theme	п	% of 14
Mental/emotional energy	14	100
Relationships	13	93
Responsibilities	14	100
Physical energy	9	64
Spirituality	6	43

Responses to Node Typical Day

Note. N = 14

Theme: Mental and emotional energy. All 14 participants (100%) shared their mental and emotional feelings regarding what they experienced throughout the day. Participants shared actions and descriptions of their feelings which included commute, family, self, excited, stressful, and work. Following are experiences participants shared regarding their mental and emotional energy on a typical day. Participant 10 stated "I live in a very over-populated area. My commute is stressful, and I'm happy now that it only takes about 35, 40 minutes" In contrast, "Participant 2 stated "The whole time I'm planning in my head what it is I'm going to do. What's my first task, and so I have a plan in my mind what I want to accomplish" Participant 1 stated "Once I leave from work, that's it. I turn it off. I don't think I make a conscious decision of it being turned off" Participant 8 stated "I'm always excited. But I will say an eight or nine of excitement on a new day, a new opportunity to do things and to hopefully improve on things."

Theme: Relationships Thirteen out of 14 participants (93%) described how relationships were part of their typical day experiences. Participants 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 shared experiences and described relationships as family, friends, pets, employees, and senior management. Following are experiences participants shared regarding their energy and relationships in a typical day. Participant 7 stated "Everyone's high performing. They want to do well. I have a good group of people that I work with and supervise; my boss is fairly rusting and hands-off" Participant 14 stated "My daughter, she tends to call me every day around the time when I settle it, in the morning before the day gets started. So, we have a very tight relationship" Participant 1 stated "I really love those moments because it is a great opportunity to help people see the best in themselves. I can figure out the best way to really bring out the best in other people."

Theme: Responsibilities. All 14 participants (100%) shared responsibilities were part of their experiences in a typical day. The participants shared experiences and described responsibilities as home, family members, household tasks, personal, emails,

program management, planning, church or civic responsibilities. Following are experiences participants shared regarding energy and responsibilities in a typical day. Participant 6 stated "A typical day is generally very busy. I've got multiple tasks throughout the day. I'm constantly juggling from one assignment to the next" Participant 10 stated "I normally have several meetings a day, so I'm trying to prepare for the meeting. If I have a leading role, it's a bit more stressful."

Theme: Physical energy. Nine out of participants (64%) described how various aspects physical energy were part of their typical day experiences. Participants 1, 3, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 14 shared experiences of managing physical energy such as exercise, nutrition, sleep, caffeine, and errands. Following are experiences participants shared managing their physical energy during a typical day. Participant 14 stated "So one of my must haves is having my coffee and muffin. That's something I need to mentally prepare me for the day" Participant 10 stated "A lot of what I'm doing during the day is mentally stressful but not physical. I'm sitting down most of the day and only get up to go to a meeting or use the restroom" Participant 11 stated "Because I think that me maintaining a good diet, me exercising, me understanding complexities of projects and people allows me to better manage my energy".

Theme: Spirituality. Six out of 14 participants (43%) shared the importance or practice of spiritual experiences in their day. Participants 2, 5, 7, 8, 10, and 13 described spirituality as pray, meditation, children, church, and positivity. Following are experiences participants shared regarding energy and their spirituality experiences during a typical day. Participant 2 stated "I'm in one ministry at church, missionary, so I enjoy

that. So, I'm going to stick with that. Participant 8 stated "I think a source of energy is our spirit, right? So, I have a spirit of hope all the time. If you don't have that spiritual base, then guess what? You can be easily defeated" Participant 13 stated "Well my energy before work, when I wake up at home is a lot higher. I get up with my kids and we pray".

Node: Energy and performance. I identified three themes: motivation, worklevel demand, and self-awareness. The following paragraphs describe the experiences of participants managing energy to facilitate performance. Table 7 includes participants' responses to the node and depicts similar shared thoughts or beliefs associated with the themes.

Table 7

Responses to Node Energy and Performance

Prevalent theme	п	% of 14
Motivation	11	79
Work-level demand	14	100
Self-awareness	8	57

Note. N = 14.

Theme: Motivation. Eleven out of the 14 participants (79%) shared how feelings of motivation described experiences of managing energy in their performance. Participants 1, 2, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, and 14 described motivation as motivating others, hyper-focused, alert, confident, and competent. Following are experiences of how motivation was associated with energy and performance during the day. For example, Participant 6 stated "As for me, it's a desire and an ambition to do a good job. When I come into work, I feel ready to get the job done, be successful, be productive" Participant 14 stated "I have always been motivated. I never compare myself to other women. I always compare myself to men. It's not about me as a woman, it's about me as a valued employee".

Theme: Work-level demand. All the 14 participants (100%) shared experiences of the relationship between their workload and energy. In describing these experiences, participants used terms productivity, refocus, demanding, stressful, challenging, and satisfying. Following are experiences participants shared regarding the demands of work and their energy. Participant 2 stated "I think it has to do somewhat with your enthusiasm. Do you like your job? Are you looking forward to coming to work? I like what I do" Participant 1 stated "When it comes down to like a deadline or something like that, I kind of have the energy that's focused on achievement or not letting the team down" Conversely, Participant 11 stated "I feel like I'm feeling dull, I will open up a course. Right now I am taking one on the science of happiness".

Theme: Self-awareness. Eight of the 14 participants (57%) described their experiences of self-awareness in managing energy for successful performance. Participants 1, 3, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, and 14 used words such as attitude, self-motivated, thoughtful, self-confidence, productivity, mindfulness, compartmentalize, center, and energy readiness to describe self-awareness. Following are experiences participants shared regarding the relationship of self-awareness and energy. Participant 10 stated "I like a challenge. I like wondering to myself, Oh, my God, can I actually do this? When I'm in that state of mind, it's like optimum" Conversely, Participant 7 stated "Being full of energy doesn't necessarily equate to me being on the very top of my game. I overestimate. I should have stepped back and slowed down for a minute".

Node: Matching energy to resources. I identified three themes: prioritizing, focusing, and interacting with others. The following paragraphs describe experiences of matching energy to available resources. Table 8 includes participants' responses to the node matching energy to resources and depicts similar shared thoughts or beliefs associated with the themes.

Table 8

Responses to Node Matching Energy to Resources

Prevalent theme	п	% of 14
Prioritizing	11	79
Focusing	14	100
Interacting with others	10	71
Note $N = 14$		

Note. N = 14.

Theme: Prioritizing. Eleven of the 14 participants (79%) shared experiences of prioritizing work and tasks to match their energy levels. Participants 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, and 14 described prioritizing as compartmentalize, pre-plan, checklists, meeting challenge, and productivity. Following were experiences participants shared on prioritizing work to match energy with available resources. Participant 3 stated "The clarity, focus on it, and true intent. I guess for me, I believe I work much better under a deadline or suspense" Participant 5 stated "I think you need that energy to be able to accomplish the mission. The energy doesn't have to be high, but it has to be the appropriate amount to make sure we're all getting to the end goal" Participant 7 stated "I

make lists, and it makes me feel very accomplished when I finish all things on my list. It keeps me on track of what is most important".

Theme: Focusing. All the 14 participants (100%) described experiences of focusing and refocusing energies to match performance requirements. Participants used words such as challenged, charged atmosphere, less attention to detail, thoughtful, considerate, good decisions, and aha moment to describe these experiences. Following are experiences participants shared on the relationship between energy and focusing attention on details and tasks. Participant 13 stated "I would say I'm hyper-focused, and I'm excited about what I am doing" Conversely, Participant 5 stated "I'm just slow to respond, or just don't do it. No, I would call it like *half-doing*. I won't be my best" Participant 6 stated "I am able to plow through. For the most part, I can focus and get it done".

Theme: Interacting with others. Ten of the 14 participants (71%) shared the importance of interacting with others to get energized to meet performance desires and requirements. Participants 1, 2, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 13, and 14 described experiences of interacting with others as relationships, delegate, transparent, positive attitude, meet the challenge, alone time, buy-in, and engagement. Following are experiences participants shared regarding interacting with family, subordinates, friends, or peers to manage energy during the day. Participant 6 stated "I always feel good when my team comes to me and asks a question. I feel like a sense of okay, I'm teaching, I'm helping and that makes me feel good" Conversely, Participant 8 stated "I think if the energy is too high, it can be a

detriment too. I mean sometimes people don't see high energy. They see 'Oh she's so passionate about what she's doing and can't hear past what she's doing'.

Research Question 2 Findings

The second research question was: What is it like to experience trying to replenish energy while at work? The following interview questions served as the basis to answer this research question:

- When your energy is *low*, what is it like to restore it to ensure you have personal energy to meet future work demands?
- How often during the workday do you take actions to renew your energy, and what types of activities, strategies, or experiences do you engage in to do so?
- If you have found a strategy which helps to restore energy, what is that strategy? Why does it work?

This section includes discussion on the related refined node and prevalent themes regarding the replenishing energy to meet future work demands.

Node: Replenishing energy. I identified two themes: self-reflection and breaks. The following paragraphs describe the experiences of replenishing energy. Table 9 includes participants' responses to the node replenishing energy and depicts similar shared thoughts or beliefs associated with the themes.

Table 9

Responses to Node Replenishing Energy

Prevalent theme	п	% of 14
Self-reflection	8	57
Breaks	14	100
N_{a4a} $N = 14$		

Note. N = 14.

Eight of the 14 participants (57%) shared experiences of using self-reflection as a strategy for replenishing energy. Participants 1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, and 14 used phrases such as confidence, isolation, mindfulness, attitude, thought leadership, and recognition to describes experiences of self-awareness. Following are experiences participants shared on self-reflection and energy. Participant 14 stated "I'm understanding more about myself. I find when I am alone, my mind is clearer, and I'm not clouded by interferences. I find I'm more productive" Participant 7 stated "I'll try to get out of my environment and remove myself from whatever it is that's dragging me down. I'll try to create a positive feeling that will then feed me some energy".

Theme: Breaks. All 14 participants (100%) shared experiences of taking breaks to replenish energy. The participants described breaks as strategies, exercise, deep breathing, sleep, rest, walking, massages, nutrition, snacks, change of scenery, environmental restoration, listening to music, and social interaction. Following are experiences participants shared on the strategies or breaks used to manage energy. Participant 1 stated "Yes, I do walk around. I go for a walk, or I walk out of the building even if it's freezing to go get a coffee" Participant 3 stated "I play a game on my phone. Something that's very mindless. It just gets you away from whatever at the moment" Participant 2 stated "I read The Economist" Participant 11 stated "If I feel like I'm feeling dull, then I'll open up a course. I take a couple different online courses" Participant 4 stated "I have never had a day in my year that I've been here that I've been able to take a break and go downstairs and workout" Participant 6 stated "I rarely take lunch. I'll go downstairs and get a salad and eat it at my desk and work at the same time".

Research Question 3 Findings

The third research question was: What are the perceived challenges of successfully managing energy? The following interview question served as the basis to answer this research question:

• What is your perception of the challenges or obstacles you may face in trying to manage or replenish your energy while at work?

This section includes discussion on the related refined node and prevalent themes regarding the challenges and obstacles to managing energy while at work.

Node: Challenges in managing energy. I identified three themes: work demands, work-life balance, and mental exhaustion. The following paragraphs describe participants' experiences with handling the perceived obstacles and challenges preventing energy management. Table 10 includes participants' responses to the node challenges in managing energy and depicts similar shared thoughts with the themes.

Table 10

Responses to Node Challenges in Managing Energy

Prevalent theme	п	% of 14
Work demands versus time	5	36
Work-life balance	4	29
Mental exhaustion	5	36
NT ()T 14		

Note. N = 14.

Theme: Work demands versus time. Five of the 14 participants (36%) shared challenging experiences of balancing work demands with the time available in the workday. Participants 4, 6, 7, 11, and 13 described experiences of balancing work demands with time as challenging, demanding, delegate, morning planning, demand expectations, and decision-making. Following are experiences participants shared on managing their time to accomplish work demands. Participant 6 stated "I guess I have a higher energy, I'm more motivated to get things done. I guess I enjoy doing the work more when I have more energy" Participant 13 stated "I have to always be prepared and be able to hone that power to get information out. And that's one thing I do at the drop of a hat. I delegate work to everybody" Participant 7 stated "When people come in and intrude on my time, notice I use the word intrude instead of spending social time with me because it feels like an intrusion when I have something to do, and I am stressed about it".

Theme: Work-life balance. Four of the 14 participants (29%) stated experiences of trying to balance work and life presented challenges in managing energy. Participants 4, 9, 12, and 13 described work life balance experiences as family, pressure, and responsibilities. Following are experiences participants shared about trying to balance

work and non-work responsibilities. Participant 12 stated "I'm always on call. I'll schedule calls late, like 4:30 because I know I'm going to be on the road driving" Participant 11 stated "When I get up, I start my Mom work with my twins to get them ready for school" Similarly, Participant 13 stated "In the morning, I get my daughter ready when she's with me. In the evening, I have her do homework, I may do some extra work, wash clothes, that kind of stuff" Participant 4 stated "I read over emails, both personal and professional, do any shopping online if I can, then make my lunch, get my husband out the door and get my baby out" Participant 9 stated "I get out of work at 4:00, and my family counts on me being home by 5:00. So, I do have some pressure to make sure that I am home".

Theme: Mental exhaustion. Five of the 14 participants (36%) cited experiences of mental exhaustion as obstacle to managing energy. Participants 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8 described experiences of being mentally exhausted as draining, overwhelmed, deflated, work-life balance, and isolation. Following are experiences participants shared on feeling exhausted during the workday. Participant 6 stated "Low productivity is what happens here. Then a lot of discouragement. I become discouraged and like I said, sometimes no matter what I do, I just can't get it back" Participant 2 stated "When I have low emotional energy, I'm distracted. I'm just in my thoughts. I'm not present. I'm present physically but not mentally" Participant 8 stated "I think I probably express a little bit of insecurity. I don't feel like I'm *firing on all pistons*".

Summary

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to gain an understanding of the lived experiences of women trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. Chapter 4 included an overall summary of the study. The chapter included discussions on a pilot study, the setting of the study, demographic information, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and the results of the research study. Responses from the fifteen interview questions were suitable and appropriate for answering the research questions. The study included 14 participants. Each provided detailed and rich data in describing their experiences and thoughts related to managing and replenishing energy while at work. They also shared feelings about the challenges or obstacles preventing them from replenishing energy depleted during the course of the workday.

Research Question 1 was as follows: What is it like to experience trying to manage energy while at work? The associated nodes included typical day, energy and performance, and matching energy to resources. The prevalent themes for the node typical day that emerged were mental and emotional energy, relationships, responsibilities, physical energy and spirituality. The themes for the node energy and performance were motivation, work-level demand, and self- awareness. Finally, the node matching energy to resources included the themes prioritizing, focusing, and interacting with others. The findings revealed the participants shared similar experiences of managing energy. Strong enthusiasm for the job and a desire to work with others to accomplish goals were primary factors in their energy management.
The second research question was as follows: What is it like to experience trying to replenish energy while at work? The associated node was replenishing energy. The prevalent themes were self-reflection and breaks. The findings revealed strategies for replenishing energy varied amongst the participants; however, with maturity and experience, most of the participants had an awareness of the strategies that worked best for them.

The final research question was as follows: What are the perceived challenges of successfully managing energy? The associated node was challenges in managing energy. The prevalent themes included work demands versus time, work-life balance, and mental exhaustion. The findings revealed all the participants experienced a high volume of work but still worked to keep a reasonable balance between the demands of work and family responsibilities.

Findings revealed that the participants still work under the old paradigm of managing their time instead of managing energy. By the end of the interview sessions, all participants acknowledged all actions, behaviors, and thoughts require some level of energy. The participants realized the value in shifting the focus to energy management. Chapter 5 will include discussion on the findings, conclusions, and recommendations for future study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to explore the experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy while at work based on the experiences and perceptions of 14 female supervisors employed within the NCR. The participants ranged in age and years of supervisory experience. The hermeneutic phenomenological study was conducted for the purpose of capturing the experiences, successes, and perceived challenges and obstacles to managing and replenishing energy at work and to identify trends or themes during data analysis.

Several themes emerged from the responses the participants provided during the interview process. The themes supported the three research questions. Overall, 16 themes emerged in the data. The themes related to five associated nodes were (a) typical day, (b) energy and performance, (c) matching energy to resources, (d) replenishing energy, and (e) challenges in managing energy.

The three associated nodes that supported RQ 1 were (a) typical day, (b) energy and performance, and (c) matching energy to resources. The five themes related to the node of typical day experiences were (a) mental and emotional energy, (b) relationships, (c) responsibilities, (d) physical energy, and (e) spirituality. The three themes related to the node energy and performance experiences were (a) motivation, (b) work-level demand, and (c) self-awareness. The three themes related to the node matching energy to resources experiences were (a) prioritizing, (b) focusing, and (c) interacting with others.

The node related to RQ 2 was replenishing energy. The two themes related to the node replenishing energy experiences were (a) self-reflection and (b) breaks.

The node related to RQ 3 was challenges in managing energy. The three themes related to the node challenges in managing energy were (a) work demands versus time, (b) work-life balance, and (c) mental exhaustion.

Interpretation of the Findings

The findings in the study are consistent with the existing literature on managing energy in the workplace. Work requires some degree of effort and depletes energy. The literature review in Chapter 2 indicated the role of energy in performance in the workplace. Much of the literature addressed the impact of work demands on a manager's stress and overall well-being. The discussion of the findings in the current study is divided into several sections: (a) typical day experiences, (b) energy and performance, (c) matching energy to resources, (d) replenishing energy, and (e) challenges in managing energy.

Typical Day Experiences

Hobfoll (1989) described objects, energies, or personal characteristics as valuable resources. Hobfoll's COR theory suggests resources have value. The current study findings revealed the participants' experiences included numerous things of value. Mental and emotional energy, relationships, responsibilities, physical energy, and spirituality were common resources identified by participants. These common themes confirmed the literature review related to the COR theory regarding the use, retention, and acquisition of resources. The participants recognized the importance of having sufficient stores of all types of energy. The findings revealed 100% of the participants relied on having clarity of mind and purpose throughout the day. Regarding physical energy, participants valued rest and nutrition, and 64% included physical exercise on the day outside of the workday. Building physical energy resources helps lower stress, decreasing the need for recovery (Formanoy et al., 2016). Only one of the 14 participants took a break during the day to include a structured exercise program. The participants described the importance of maintaining relationships and meeting personal and professional responsibilities. The findings also revealed that spirituality assisted participants in renewing and acquiring energy. Prior studies confirmed that spirituality or spiritual resources may enhance resiliency and increase confidence about influencing or changing the environment to suit a person's needs (Bickerton et al., 2015; Geue, 2018).

Energy and Performance

The associated category of energy and performance aligned with the COR theory, which posits that individuals strive to protect, retain, and create resources of value (Hobfoll, 1989). Hobfoll (1989) noted that energy is a resource required for performance. The findings for energy and performance resulted in themes of motivation, work-level-demand, and self- awareness. There was slight variation in the experiences of these themes among the participants; however, the findings suggested most shared similar views regarding the relationship between energy and performance. Hobfoll contended that individuals require adequate energy resources to perform and complete work. Inadequate resources and coping strategies could affect performance and the well-being of individuals (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003).

For the current study participants, an intrinsic motivation to succeed was instrumental for achieving peak performance (see Keating & Heslin, 2015). The findings

revealed that 79% of the participants described themselves as ambitious. The participants shared an internal drive that motivated them to accomplish tasks and responsibilities in an excellent manner. All participants described their roles as demanding and challenging. Participants shared experiences of juggling multiple programs and projects to accomplish the goals of the organization.

The findings suggested most participants claimed to have the skills and competence to meet the requirements of the position. This knowledge yielded the energy to perform, make sound decisions, engage with others, and perform at a high level. Social learning theory highlights the interaction between an individual and the environment (Bandura, 2001). Individuals recognize the need to engage with and shape the environment to produce positive outcomes (Bandura, 2001). Social learning theory's principles of self-efficacy and belief in the ability to control the environment were observed in the experiences of the participants. Of the 14 participants, 57% shared having a strong awareness of self, which gave them the confidence, energy, and attitude to perform at optimal levels. Participants characterized their vigor and energy as typically high. The result of this affective energetic state for the participants was resiliency, determination, and creativity (see Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014).

Matching Energy to Resources

Work requires some degree of effort on the part of individuals in the workplace. Participants in the current study shared experiences of expending energy to perform tasks, interact with others, and prepare for future tasks and responsibilities. ER theory states that as individuals expend energy in the course of performance, they must devise ways to recover the depleted energy (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). Current study participants' experiences of matching energy to resources aligned with ER theory. The findings indicated the participants recognized the energy drain and devised strategies for matching their energy stores with the available resources.

The themes emerging from the findings included prioritizing work, focusing on tasks, and interacting with others to accomplish tasks. Of the 14 participants, 79% used the strategy of prioritization to determine what to accomplish and how to accomplish required projects and tasks. The findings indicated all participants worked within the paradigm of time management. Participants shared experiences of using prioritization as a method for allocating time for various tasks. Participant 7 stated "I make lists, and it makes me feel very accomplished when I finish all the things on my list; it keeps me on track of what's most important."

Hobfoll (1989) posited in the COR theory that individuals place value on their resources. The participants in the current study placed value on their time. The threat of not having sufficient time to complete tasks exacerbated stress. Participants were motivated to minimize the loss of energy resources and found ways to cultivate more. The findings suggested participants recognized and gauged their energy levels. When considering mental energy, 64% emphasized the need to be more hyper-focused on the tasks.

Having the autonomy to engage in job crafting and job design helped participants match energy with resources. Altering the boundaries of the job tasks influenced participants' perceptions of the job tasks. This autonomy allowed participants to adjust job demands with personal resources creating a spiral of new resources to accomplish responsibilities (see Bruning & Campion, 2018; Gordon et al., 2018). Participants interacted with and extended autonomy to subordinates to meet job demands. Participant 14 stated "What I tend to do is rely on others as I have learned over the years. That it is about empowering your employees and setting expectations with them to do what needs to be done."

Replenishing Energy

The findings in the study confirmed the literature review related to ER theory. Meijman and Mulder (1998) contended that expending work results in load reactions. These reactions are physiological or psychological reactions to exerting effort during work and are reversible through recovery. The findings from the current study revealed participants experienced mental and physical exhaustion during completing work or interacting with others. This loss of energy resources dictates the need to employ recovery to replenish energy (Ragsdale & Beehr, 2016). Participants acknowledged limitations or vulnerabilities when energy was low. This awareness led them to devise various strategies to mitigate the loss. Participant 14 stated "I've learned over time. I have built a level of confidence now, and it's about knowing what you know." Hildenbrand et al. (2018) posited that managers may operate on inadequate levels of energy for short periods of time; however, if the levels remain low for extended periods of time, performance may suffer. The findings from the current study suggested that participants take time for self-reflection. Participant 12 described it as thought leadership: "Sometimes you don't give it all to them because they need to bring something to the

table, so that you can learn, right? You don't always have to be the teacher." Engaging in self-reflection affected attitude and confidence resulting in new energies.

Of the 14 participants, 57% were confident in their ability to recognize changes in performance levels related to inadequate energy resources. Although strategies varied, all participants used breaks as a strategy to replenish energy. Participant 10 stated

Taking a walk gives me mental clarity and gives me that time to think about what I am going to do. You're not thinking about what you left at your desk but finding something else to focus on. That alone will give you drive, a motivation to get through.

Participant 8 stated

Sometimes you need to make a human connection because that could be a strategy where maybe you're involving or engaging yourself with something that's not work related to just have a new, fresh perspective so that you can come back to that task that you have to complete.

Challenges in Managing Energy

Managing energy is a deliberate and intentional effort of balancing the expenditure of energy with the replenishment of energy (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Of the 14 participants in the current study, 71% described daily experiences of juggling tasks, projects, and staff assignments as exhausting. Of the participants, 36% also struggled with balancing work demands with time and found it difficult to disengage psychologically from work (see Sonnentag & Kuhnel, 2016). Participant 4 stated "I'm on calls. Of course, they are hands free, but I may be setting up

meetings or talking to people. I look at this as an opportunity to get stuff done prior to getting in."

As participants exerted effort to perform work and engage with others in the workplace, they depleted energy sources (see Bono et al., 2013). Continued exposure to stress in the workplace without opportunities for recovery may be detrimental to performance and well-being (Sonnentag et al., 2017; Xanthopoulou et al., 2014). The findings on the associated category of perceived challenges to managing aligned with Hobfoll's COR theory. This resource-oriented theory asserts that individuals strive to create pleasurable and resource-rich environments.

Kersh (2018) asserted that women endure undue psychological stress and additional drain on their resources due to societal expectations and roles. The findings in the current study confirmed the literature review on women and stress. The participants shared experiences of balancing work with home and personal responsibilities. Although all had varying degrees of family responsibilities, most admitted that work spilled over into personal and family life. Only 14% completely separated work from family. Participant 1 stated "Once I leave from work, that's it. I turn it off. I don't think I make a conscious decision; it's just one of those roles you play." Participants described the greatest challenge to be the depletion of emotional energy. Of the 14 participants, 86% stated they experienced a drain on emotional energy. Participant 7 stated "A lot of what I'm doing during the day is mentally stressful." Participant 5 stated "Some of my work, it seems to be an easy task, but it's not truly an easy task. You've really got to think about it. I am not a fast thinker." Participant 6 stated "When you're in an environment where there's so many different personalities, it can really drain you." In work, environmental circumstances threaten or deplete emotional energy (Boekhorst et al., 2017).

Limitations of the Study

For this current study, I explored participants' lived experiences and perceptions of the phenomenon of managing energy while at work. There were several limitations in the current study. Trustworthiness was a limitation. I attempted to mitigate any personal bias by sharing my experiences of trying to manage my energy in previous supervisory positions. This strategy helped achieve credibility in my study. This study included 14 female supervisors working in the public sector in the NCR. With this small population, it was difficult to achieve generalizability. The findings of the current study are not transferable to other populations. Lincoln and Guba (1985) posited a researcher is responsible for producing results designed to transfer judgements regarding the phenomenon under study. Confirmability is an attempt to mitigate and control potential biases (Maxwell, 2013). Through reflexivity, I considered and reflected on my personal experiences. My goal was to reduce my personal biases.

In phenomenological studies, a researcher gathers first-hand data from participants (Yin, 2011). In this current study, I relied on self-reported accounts of experiences from the participants. This method of data collection is a limitation because participants may have embellished or exaggerated their experiences or may not have had a clear recollection of past experiences. The data collection method was a limitation. I used semi-structured interviews to gain insight into the various experiences of the participants. This method is useful in that it allows the researcher to ask probing questions; however, the researcher may not have control the environment in which interviews are conducted (Yin, 2011). I conducted face-to-face interviews as well as teleconferences. For interviews conducted via a telephone, a researcher is unable to gather additional information from non-verbal cues (Yin, 2011). This is a limitation because I was not able to observe body language to assess a participant's comfort with the interview questions or confidence in their response. The mode of the interviews did not influence or affect the quality and content of the data collection.

Snowball sampling is a limitation (see Patton, 2015). I did not identify this method of recruitment and data collection in Chapter 1. Potential participants were identified through personal and professional networking. All the participants met the criteria outlined in the study. I employed these various strategies to limit potential weaknesses in the study.

Recommendations

A review of the literature revealed an opening for further exploration of energy management in the workplace. Literature on the concept of managing one's energy resources for performance was scant (Cole et al., 2012; Hunter & Wu, 2016; Oerlemans & Bakker, 2014. Of the studies addressing recovery and energy management, most focused on strategies occurring during time away from the work environment (Bennett et al., 2016; Fritz & Sonnentag, 2005). In this current study, I explored the experiences of managing and replenishing personal energy while at work.

There are many opportunities for future research on the phenomenon of managing energy while at work. The first research question examined the experiences of women trying to manage their energy while at work. Research shows stress manifests itself differently between genders (Kausar, 2017; Kersch). Men and women may also approach managing energy differently. Future qualitative research could include an exploration and comparison of energy management based on gender.

In the current study, participants shared experiences of feeling overwhelmed when emotional energy resources were low; however, most shared experiences of recognizing the deficiency and using strategies to complete work. The participants delegated work, refrained from making critical work decisions, isolated themselves, or took breaks to refresh and replenish emotional energy. Findings in the current study identified the negative impact of having insufficient emotional energy. Participants expressed feelings of frustration. Emotional intelligence (EI) describes the ability to recognize and manage one's emotions. The components of EI include self-awareness, motivation, self-regulation, social skills, and empathy (Rani & Yadapadithaya, 2018). These factors are critical for managing emotional energy and influence how an individual interacts with others in the workplace. Future research could include an exploration of the relationship between emotional energy and EI. A study could provide insight into whether emotional energy is a predictor of EI. Emotions help guide thinking, decisionmaking, and behavior (Anaza et al., 206; Atler et al., 2017).

The second research question of the current study explored the experiences of trying to replenish energy while at work. Energy loss is temporary, and the loss is reversible through various recovery strategies (Atler et al., 2017; Bennett et al., 2016; Hunter & Wu, 2016; Sonnentag et al., 2014). These strategies allow individuals to

recover energy by managing current resources or by obtaining new ones. Johnson et al. (2013) found that the stress management strategies of older employees were effective in managing emotional energy and exhaustion. Future quantitative research could include an exploration into the unique experiences of replenishing energy from a multigenerational perspective. Contemporary organizations have multigenerational workforces (Johnson et al., 2013). Each generation brings different perspectives, life experiences, values, and styles of communicating (Johnson et al., 2013).

The use of job crafting or design allows employees to design work tasks to fit their skill sets and the work environment (Gordon et al., 2018). As economies move away from manufacturing-based companies to knowledge- and customer-serviced based companies, leadership is collaborating with employees to increase productivity and performance (Gordon et al., 2018). Job roles and responsibilities may be nebulous. Management depends on employees to fill the void between explicit work requirements and expected actions and behaviors (Demerouti et al., 2015). Employees are empowered to make decisions regarding the daily operation of work units (see Demerouti et al., 2015). The literature supports the concept of job-crafting as a mechanism for increasing performance, motivation, and overall well-being (Demerouti et al., 2015; Gordon et al., 2018; Jalonen et al., 2015). Redesigning job demands and resources results in a positive state of mind and increased vigor or energy (Karatepe & Eslamlou, 2017). An exploration into the relationship between job-crafting and personal energy resources might contribute to the literature on energy management, occupational health, and performance. The third research question considered perceived challenges or obstacles to managing and replenishing energy. The inability to mentally detach from work negatively impacts recovery efforts (Sonnentag & Kuehnel, 2016). Psychological detachment is a key component of recovering energy. (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Dettmers et al. (2014) examined how extended work availability prevents psychological detachment. In the current study, participants shared experiences of being unable to disengage mentally from work responsibilities or thoughts of work demands. Studies show women face additional challenges when trying to balance work and home responsibilities and prevent spillover effects (Kausar, 2017; Kersh, 2018; Laba & Geldenhuys, 2018; Mansour & Tremblay, 2016). Future research could include an exploration of the relationship between extended work availability, work-life balance, and personal energy management.

Implications and Recommendations for Positive Social Change

My intent in this current study was to explore the experiences of female supervisors trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. There was limited current literature on managing personal energy resources during normal work hours. Energy is required to accomplish work. Without sufficient stores of mental, emotional, physical, or spiritual energy, individuals may not be able to perform at optimal levels. The potential impact for positive social change is evident at the individual, organizational, and societal levels. In this section, I focused on the implications and recommendations for practice for the individual and the organization and provided theoretical implications. These implications and recommendations aligned with the literature in this study.

Impact for the Individual

Female supervisors benefit from increased self-awareness of the role of energy in performance and well-being. Individuals do not think about energy resources until they perceive a change in their energy (Berman, 2005). Recognizing the importance of having high energy and understanding the need to manage and replenish it after it is depleted is important (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). Studies show engaging in recovery mitigates the loss of energy and helps build new energy sources (Boekhorst et al., 2017; De Bloom et al., 2017; Sonnentag et al., 2014; Zilstra et al., 2014). The dynamic process of recovery is achieved through engaging in strategies of psychological detachment, relaxation, mastery of experiences, and control (Cranley et al., 2016; Ragsdale & Beehr, 2016; Xanthopoulou et al., 2014). The implications for female supervisors are numerous. Having high energy results in vigor and builds resiliency. This resiliency is associated with performance. High energy yields confidence and self-efficacy (Geue, 2018). In this current study, participants stated having high energy motivated them to perform at higher levels and increased the desire to engage with others. Conversely, participants understood having low energy negatively affected decision-making and interpersonal relationships with others in the workplace (see Judge et al., 2017). Managing and replenishing psychological, emotional, physical, and spiritual energy contribute to the overall wellbeing of supervisors and other employees at work (Kim et al., 2017; Kinnunen et al., 2015). Personal energy is required for work. It is important for supervisors to understand that the loss of energy is temporary and reversible. Managing and replenishing energy

help foster high performance, increased engagement, and greater well-being for female supervisors (Kim et al., 2017).

Recommendations for the individual include thinking of energy as a valued resource. Just as a supervisor needs financial resources or personnel to complete the job, the supervisor should consider personal energy as a vital resource for performance. Engaging in recovery to manage energy should occur prior to the loss of energy (Berman, 2005). Supervisors should incorporate intermittent recovery strategies of psychological detachment, control, mastery of experiences, or relaxation into the workday to manage energy while at work (Sonnentag et al., 2014).

Impact for the Organization

Organizations depend on employees to produce and meet organizational goals. There is an impact at the organizational level. In this study, participants shared experiences of trying to manage and replenish energy. Leaders can learn from their successes and challenges. Organizations have an opportunity to develop initiatives encouraging employees to manage energy (Judge et al., 2017. Restructuring work and the work environment may facilitate increased energy management. Collaborating with employees to allow them to design their jobs to meet personal skills empowers employees increasing performance, engagement, and job satisfaction (Hunter & Wu, 2016; Ju et al., 2016; Karatepe & Eslamlou, 2017). It also gives employees the discretion and latitude to incorporate recovery into the workday to manage personal energy (Karatepe & Eslamlou, 2017). Leaders are now considering the importance of human sustainability

(Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017; Stan, 2018). Corporate leaders have traditionally considered economic, environmental, and corporate social responsibilities for the organization and are discovering a strategy for survival should include the maintenance, development, and regeneration of human resources (Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017). Human sustainability is dependent upon on employees having sufficient stores of personal energy (Stan, 2018).

Organizational leaders can impact employees by promulgating policies to foster a culture of energy management. Loehr & Schwartz (2003) described the need for a paradigm shift. The traditional paradigm of managing time could be replaced with one focusing on managing energy (Loehr & Schwartz, 2003). With a focus on recovery strategies, leaders could implement policies allowing flexible work schedules, telework, and time for physical fitness or other types of breaks (Ginoux et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2015; Taylor et al., 2013). Insight into the concept of energy management might advance interventions such as resiliency training, mindfulness training, or other employee development programs (Goswami & Burnell, 2016; Munoz et al., 2018; Pluta & Rudawska, 2016). These initiatives promote employee well-being and work-life balance and help foster an organizational culture that values both the workforce and productivity (Agosti et al., 2017; Zacher et al., 2014). These steps signal an organization's intent to create organizational effectiveness and efficiency by helping employees manage, generate, sustain, and match energy output to energy stores. Investment into educating and developing employees on energy management facilitates human sustainability and

strengthens the organization (Savaneviciene & Stankeviciute, 2017). The impact of positive social change at the individual and organizational levels results in positive implications for society.

Theoretical Implications

This current study on energy management was insightful regarding its theoretical implications. The results in the current study help advance theory in the area of managing personal energy. In this this current study, I examined the experiences of female supervisors trying to manage and replenish energy while at work. I considered the problem of supervisors failing to manage or replenish depleted energy while still at work. This research contributes to the current body of knowledge addressing the phenomenon of energy management. There was a gap in the current literature on managing energy during the workday. In this current study, I focused the experiences of females, as studies showed women experience and manifest stress differently than male counterparts (see Kersh, 2018). This difference may result in varying experiences and strategies of trying to manage energy (Kausar, 2017). The results of this current study add to the empirical body of literature related to the COR theory and the ER theory.

Hobfoll's (2001) COR theory is commonly used as a framework in studies for examining the impact of stress on resources. The significance of this theory to this current study is it highlights the importance of developing and maintaining personal resources to mitigate the loss of energy. When supervisors have an awareness and the self-efficacy to influence the environment, they can combat the energy loss and perform at higher levels (Bandura, 2001; Kim & Niu, 2017). The ER theory posits doing work results in unavoidable physiological, emotional, and behavioral responses. These responses can be temporary and reversed through recovery efforts (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). The significance of ER theory to this study is it contextualizes the importance of regulating energy usage with intermittent recovery efforts or experiences. The findings of the current study revealed participants felt overwhelmed when failing to set aside time during the workday to recover (Rhee & Kim, 2016; van Hoof et al., 2018).

Use of these theoretical frameworks in this current study provided an insightful way to explore the importance of having sufficient personal energy resources for work. Individuals perform at higher levels when they have sufficient resources (Berman, 2005). When energy resources are depleted during work, there are psychological, physiological, or emotional responses or consequences (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). Intermittent recovery mitigates the loss and lessens the consequences of the loss of energy (Sonnentag & Niessen, 2008; Trougakos & Hideg, 2009). The intersection of the two theories allowed me to approach the problem in a unique way. In this current study, I examined the role of energy in building mental, emotional, physical, and spiritual capacities and the role of recovery in managing and sustaining these capacities (Berman, 2005; Loehr & Schwartz, 2003; Sonnentag et al, 2017).

Conclusion

The central phenomenon of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was energy management. Managing and replenishing personal energy resources are vital to an individual's performance and overall well-being. In this current study, I examined the experiences of female supervisors trying to manage and replenish energy while still at work. I also explored the participants' perceived challenges to managing energy while still at work. Much of the contemporary literature focused on managing energy outside of the work. The purpose of this study was to explore the experiences of managing energy in the workplace. As energy is used at work, it is important to find ways to intermittently restore it to prepare for the future work demands (Berman, 2005).

The findings of the study suggest participants found ways to decompress, reenergize, and refocus on their work after experiencing the depletion of energy resources. The types of intermittent breaks varied amongst the participants. The strategies included interacting with others, delegating work, isolating themselves, taking a brief walk, or moving to a different task. Most noted external challenges to managing and replenishing energy at work. These challenges included work overload, work life balance, and the needs of the organization; however, the participants; commitment to excel and the desire to make a difference were driving factors in trying to overcome obstacles.

The results of this current study advance the current body of knowledge regarding energy management. The themes identified in the findings aided in addressing the three research questions. The participants shared similar typical day experiences. These included the using mental and emotional energy, interacting with others, engaging in physical activity, and relying on spirituality. Participants used energy to perform work. Participants' motivation aided completion of work demands. The findings revealed participants developed strategies to match energy output to resources. Focusing on the tasks, prioritizing work, and marshalling the skills of subordinates were important. Participants shared experiences of trying to replenish energy through recovery efforts. Participants recognized the internal and external factors creating challenges to energy management. Individuals should develop styles and strategies for managing energy at work. Establishing stable and consistent patterns of behavior pertaining to matching personal energy resources to work demands will facilitate a paradigm shift to managing energy.

References

- Afsar, B., & Badir, Y. (2017). Workplace spirituality, perceived organizational support and innovative work behavior: The mediating efects of persoan-organization fit. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 29(2), 95-109. doi:10.1108/JWL-11-2015-0086
- Agosti, M., Bringsen, A., & Anderson, I. (2017). The complexity of resources related to work-life balance and well-being: A survey among municipality employees in Sweden. *International Journal of Human Resource Management, 28*(16), 2351-2374. doi:10.1080/0958192.2017.1340323
- Altaf, A., & Awan, M. (2011). Moderating effect of workplace spirituality on the relationship of job overload and job satisfaction. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 104(1), 93-99. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0891-0
- Anaza, N., Nowlin, E., & Wu, G. (2016). Staying engaged on the job: The role of emotional labor, job resources, and customer orientation. *European Journal of Marketing*, 50(7/8), 1470-1492. doi:10.1108/EJM-11-2014-0682
- Atler, K., L., B., Moravec, A., Sample, P., & Fruhaur, C. (2017). The daily experiences of pleasure, productivity, and restoration profile: A case study. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therary/Revue Canadienne D'ergotyherapie*, 84(4-5), 262-272. doi:10.1177/0008417417723119
- Bahn, S., & Weatherill, P. (2013). Qualitative social research: A risky business when it comes to collecting 'sensitive' data. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(1), 19-35. doi:10.1177/1468794112439016

- Bakker, A., & Demerouitin, E. (2017). Job demands-resources theory: Taking stock and looking forward. *Journal of Occupational Health*, 22(3), 273-285. doi:10.1037/ocp0000056
- Bakker, A., Sanz-Vergel, A., Rodriguez-Munoz, A., & Oelermans, W. (2015). The state version of the recovery experience questionnaire: A multilevel confirmatory factor analysis. 24(3), 350-359. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2014.903242
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. 52, 1-26. doi:10.1146/Innurevpsych.52.1.1
- Barnett, R., Brennan, R., Garies, K., Ertes, K., Berkman, L., & Almeida, D. (2012).
 Conservation of resources theory in the context of multiple roles: An analysis of within and cross-role mediational pathways. *Community, Work, & Play, 15*(2), 131-148. doi:10.1080/13668803.2010.539066
- Becker, E., Ferentzi, H., Ferrare, G., Mobus, M., Brugman, J., Geurtzen, N., . . . Rinck,
 M. (2016). Always approach the bright side of life: A general positivity training reduces stress reactions in vulnerable individuals. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 40(1), 57-71. doi:10.1007/s10608-015-9716-2
- Bennett, A., Gabriel, A., Calderwood, C., Dahling, J., & Trougakos, J. (2016). Examining profiles of employee recovery experiences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*(12), 1635-1654. doi:10.1037/ap10000157
- Berman, M. (2005). *Strengthening your work skills through personal energy management*. Lima, OH: Wyndham Hall Press.

- Bickerton, G., Miner, M., Downso, M., & Griffin, B. (2014). Spiritual resources and work engagement among religious workers: A three-wave longitudinal study. *Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 87(2), 370-391. doi:10.1111/joop.12052
- Binnewies, C., Sonnentag, S., & Mojza, E. (2009). Feeling recovered in the morning as a predictor of day-level job performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 30(1), 67-93. doi:10.1002/job.541
- Boekhorst, J., Singh, P., & Burke, R. (2017). Work intensity, emotional exhaustion and life satisfaction: The moderating role of psychological detachment. *Personnel Review*, 46(5), 891-907. doi:10.1108/PR-05-2015-0130
- Brouer, R., Gallagher, V., & Badaway, R. (2016). Ability to manage resources in the impression management process: The mediating effects of resources on job performance. 31(4), 515-531. doi:10.1007/s10869-015-9426-5
- Bruning, P., & Campion, M. (2018). A role-resource approach-avoidance model of job crafting: A multimethod integration and extension of job crafting theory.
 Academy of Management Journal, 61(2), 499-522. doi:10.5465/amj.2015.0604
- Buffone, A., Poulin, M., DeLury, S., Ministero, L., Morrison, C., & Scalco, M. (2017).
 Don't walk in her shoes! Different forms of perspective taking affect stress
 physiology. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 72, 161-168.
 doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2017.04.001
- Clark, M., Soyring, J., Jenkins, S., Daniels, D., Berkland, B., Werneburg, B., . . . Olsen,K. (2014). The integration of studio cycling into a worksite stress management

programme. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 30*(2), 166-176. doi:10.1002/smi.2514

- Clinton, M., Sturges, J., & Conway, N. (2017). "It's tough hanging up a call": The relationaship between calling and work hours, psychological detachment, sleep quality, and morning vigor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 22*(1), 28-39. doi:100000250.1037/ocp
- Cocchiara, R., Peruzzo, M., Mannoci, A., Ottolenghi, L., Villari, P., Polimeni, A., . . . To,
 1. (2019). The use of yoga to manage stress and burnout in healthcare workers: A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *83*(3), 284-295.
 doi:10.3390/jcm8030284-295
- Cole, M., Bruch, H., & Vogel, B. (2012). Energy at work: A measurement validation and linkage to unit effectiveness. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 33(4), 445-467. doi:10.1002/job.759
- Colley, K., Brown, C., & Montarzino, A. (2017). Understanding knowledge workers' interactions with workplace greenspace: Open space use and restoration experiences at urban-fringe sites. *Environment and Behavior*, 49(3), 314-338. doi:10.1177/0013916516629194
- Consiglio, C., Borgogni, L., Alessandri, G., & Schaufeli, W. (2013). Does self-efficacy matter for burnout and sickness absenteeism? The mediating role of demands and resources at the individual and team levels. *Work and Stress, 27*(1), 22-42. doi:10.1080/02678373.2013.769325

- Cranley, K., Cunningham, C., & Panda, M. (2016). Understanding time use, stress and recovery practices among early career physicians: An exploratory study. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 21*(3), 362-367. doi:10.1080/113548506.2015.1061675
- Creswell, J. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Crowther, J., Ironside, P., Spense, D., & Smythe, L. (2017). Crafting stories in hermeneutic phenomenology reasearh: A methodological device. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 826-835. doi:10.1177/1049732316656161
- Dababneh, A., Swanson, N., & Shell, R. (2001). Impact of added rest breaks on the productivity and well-being of workers. *Ergonomics*, 44(2), 164-174. doi:10.1080/001400130121538
- De Bloom, J., Sianoja, M., Korpela, K., Tuomisto, M., Lilja, A., Guerts, S., & Kinnunen, U. (2017). Effects of park walks and relaxation exercises during lunch breaks on recovery from job stress. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 14-30. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.03.006
- Debus, M., Sonnentag, S., Deutsch, W., & Nussbeck, F. (2014). Making flow happen:
 The effects of being recovered on work-related flow between and within days.
 Journal of Applied Psychology, 99(4), 713-722. doi:10.1037/a0035881
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A., & Gevers, J. (2015). Job crafting and extra-role behavior: The role of work engagement and flourishing. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *91*, 87-96. doi:10.1016j.jvb.2015.09.001

- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A., Nahreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. (2001). The job-demands resources model of burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(3), 449-512. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A., Sonnentag, S., & Fullagar, C. (2012). Work-related flow and energy at work and at home: A study on the role of daily recovery. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 33(2), 276-295. doi:10.1002/job.760
- Derks, D., van Mierlo, H., & Schmitz, E. (2014). A diary study on work-related smartphone use, psychological detachment and exhaustion: Examining the role of the perceived segmentation norm. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 19(1), 74-84. doi:10.1037/a0035076
- Dettmers, J., Vahle-Hinz, T., Bamberg, E., Friedrich, N., & Keller, M. (2016). Extended work availability and its relation with start-of-day mood and cortisol. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 21(1), 105-118. doi:10.1037/a0039602
- Devonish, D. (2017). Gender, effort-reward imbalance at work and burnout: Findings from a developing Caribbean country. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 32(6), 441-452. doi:10.1108/GM-06-2016-0128
- Diehl, A., & Dzubinski, L. (2016). Making the invisible visible: A cross-sector analysis of gender-based leadership barriers. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 27(2), 181-206. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21248
- Effering, A., Pereira, D., & Gross, S. (2016). Social stressors at work, sleep, and recovery. *Applied Psychophysiology & Biofeedback*, 41(1), 93-101. doi:10.1007/s10484-015-9317-6

Els, C., Mostert, K., & De Beer, L. (2015). Job characteristics, burnout and the relationship of recovery experiences. South African Journal of Industrial Psychology, 41(1), 1196-1209. doi:10.4102/sajip.v41i1.1196

Ertas, N. (2015). Turnover intentions and work motivations of milennial employees in federal service. *Public Personnel Management, 44*(3), 401-423. doi:10.1177/0091026015588193

- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (2018). *National Capital Region Overview*. Retrieved from www.fema.gov/office-national-capital-region-coordination-Federal Emergency 0/national-capital-region-overview
- Formanoy, M., Dusseldorp, E., Hendricksen, I., Tak, E., Van Mechelen, I., Coffeng, J., & Boot, C. (2016). Physical activity and relaxation in the work setting to reduce the need for recovery: What works for whom? *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1-15. doi:10.1186/S12889-106-3457-3
- Fritz, C., Lam, C., & Spreitzer, G. (2011). It's the little things that matter: An examination of knowledge workers' energy management. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 25(3), 28-39. doi:10.5465/AMP.2011.63886528
- Fritz, C., & Sonnentag, S. (2005). Recovery, health, and job performance: Effects of weekend experiences. *Journal of Organizational Health Psychology*, 10(3), 187-199. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.10.3.187
- Gauche, C., De Beer, L., & Brink, I. (2017). Managing employee well-being: A qualitative study exploring job and personal resources of at-risk employees. *South*

African Journal of Human Resource Management, 15(1), 1-13.

doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v15i0.957

- Geue, P. (2018). Positive practices in the workplace: Impact on team climate, work engagement, and task performance. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 553, 272-301. doi:10.1177/0021886318773459
- Ginoux, C., Isoard-Gauther, S., & Sarazin, P. (2019). Workplace physical activity program (WOPAP) study protocol: A four-arm randomized controlled trial on preventing burnout and promoting vigor. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 289-305. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-65983
- Giorgi, A. (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach. Pittsburgh, PA: Duquesne University Press.
- Gordon, H., Demerouti, E., Le Blanc, P., Bakker, A., Bipp, T., & Verhagen, M. (2018).
 Individual job redesign: Job-crafting interventions in healthcare. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 104*, 98-114. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2017.07.002
- Goswami, P., & Burnell, S. (2016). Management of stress and musculoskeletal disorders in the workplace by yoga, meditation and therapeutic reflexology. *Injury Prevention, 22*(2), A283. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2016-042156.792
- Guillen, M., Ferrro, I., & Hoffman, W. (2015). The neglected ethical and spiritual motivations in the workplace. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*(4), 803-816. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1985-7

Hall, J., Everett, J., & Hamilton-Mason, J. (2012). Black women talk about workplace stress and how they cope. *Journal of Black Studies*, 43(2), 207-226.
doi:10.1177/0021934711413272

Heckenberg, R., Eddy, P., Kent, S., & Wright, B. (2018). Do workplace-based mindfulness meditation programs improve physiological indices of stress? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychomatic Research*, *114*, 62-71. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.09.010

- Hildenbrand, K., Sacremento, C., & Binnewies, C. (2018). Transformational leadership and burnout: The role of thriving and followers' openness to experience. *Journal* of Occupational Health Psychology, 23(1), 31-43. doi:10.1037/ocp0000051
- Hobfoll, S. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptuallizing stress. *The American Psychologist, 44*(3), 513-524. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hobfoll, S. (2001). The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 50(3), 337-370. doi:10.111/1464-0597.00062
- Hobfoll, S. (2002). Social and psychological resources and adaptation. *Review of General Psychology*, 6(4), 307-324. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.6.4.307

Hoolahan, S., Hoffman, R., Greenhouse, P., & Lehman, L. (2012). Energy capacity model for nurses: The impact of relaxation and restoration. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 42(2), 103-109. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b13e31824337d3

- Huang, J., Wang, Y., & You, X. (2016). The job-demands resources model and burnout: The mediating role of personal resources. *Current Psychology*, 35(4), 562-569. doi:10.1007/s12144-015-9321-2
- Hulsheger, U., & Feinholdt, A. N. (2015). A low-dose of mindfulness intervention and recovery from work: Effects of psychological detachment, sleep quality, and sleep duration. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88(3), 464-489. doi:10.1111/joop.12115
- Hulsheger, U., Lang, J., Depenbrook, F., Fehrmann, C., Ziljstra, R., & Alberts, J. (2014).
 The power of presence: The role of mindfulness at work for daily levels and change trajectories of psychological detachment and sleep quality. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *99*(6), 113-1128. doi:10.1037/a0037702
- Hunter, E., & Wu, C. (2016). Give me a break: Choosing workday break activities to maximize resource recovery. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(2), 302-311. doi:10.1037/ap10000045
- Jalonen, N., Kinnunen, M., Pulkkinen, L., & Kokko, K. (2015). Job skill discretion and emotion control strategies as antecedents of recovery from work. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24(3), 389-401. doi:10.1007/s10490-015-9455-7

Johnson, S., Holdsworth, L., Hoel, H., & Zapf, D. (2013). Customer stressors in service organizations: The impact of age on stress management and burnout. *European Journal of Work and Orgnizational Psychology*, 22(3), 3180330.
doi:10.1080/135943X.2013.772581

Jonge, J., & Peeters, M. (2019). The vital worker: Towards sustainable performance at work. *International Journal of Environmental research and Public Health*, 16(6), 910-916. doi:10.3390/ijerph16060910

Ju, D., Qin, X., Xu, M., & DiRenzo, M. (2016). Boundary conditions of the emotional exhaustion-unsafe behavior link: The dark side of group norms and personal control. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 33(1), 113-140. doi:10.1007/s10490-015-9455-7

- Judge, T., Weiss, H., Kammeyer-Mueller, J., & Hulin, C. (2017). Job attitudes, job satisfaction, and job affect: A century of continuity and change. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 356-374. doi:10.1037/apl11000081
- Kaplan, S. (1995). The restorative benefits of nature: Toward an integrative framework. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 15(3), 169-182. doi:10.1016/0272-4944(95)90001-2
- Karatepe, O., & Eslamlou, A. (2017). Outcomes of job crafting among flight attendants. Journal of Air Transport Management, 62, 34-43. doi:10.1016/j.jairtraman.2017.02.005

Kausar, R. (2017). Gender differences in coping with stress. Indian Journal of Health and Wellbeing, 8(10), 1240-1245. Retrieved from https://52.172.152/index.php/ijhw/article/view/162564

Keating, L., & Heslin, P. (2015). The potential role of mindsets in unleashing employee engagement. *Human Resource Management Review*, 25(4), 329-341.
doi:10.1016/j.hrmmr.2015.01.008

- Kersh, R. (2018). Women in higher education: Exploring stressful workplace factors and coping strategies. *NASPA Journal About Women in Higher Education*, 11(1), 56-73. doi:10.1080/19407882.2017.1372295
- Kim, S., Park, Y., & Niu, Q. (2017). Micro-break activities at work to recover from daily work demands. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 38(1), 28-44. doi:10.1002/job.2109
- Kim, W., & Hyum, Y. (2017). The impact of personal resources on turnover intention: The mediating effects of work engagement. *European Journal of Training and Development, 41*(8), 705-721. doi:10.1108/EJTD-05-2017-0048
- Kinnunen, U., Feldt, T., de Bloom, J., & Korpela, K. (2015). Patterns of daily energy managment at work: Relations to employee well-being and job characteristics. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 88(8), 1077-1086. doi:10.1007/s00420-015-1039-9
- Kontoghiorghes, C. (2016). Linking high performance organizational culture and talent management: Satisfaction, motivation and organizational commitment as mediatiors. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 27*(16), 1833-1853. doi:10.1080/09585192.2015.1075572
- Korpela, K., de Bloom, J., & Kinnunen, U. (2015). From restorative environments to restoration in work. *Intelligent Buildings International*, 7(4), 215-223. doi:10.1080/17508975.2014.959461
- Laba, K., & Geldenhuys, M. (2018). Positive interaction between work and home and psychological availability on women's work engagement: A shortitudinal study.

South African Journal of Industrial Psychology, 44(1), 1-11.

doi:10.4102/sajip.v44i0.1538

- Lee, B., Lawson, K., Chang, P., Neuendorf, C., Dmitreiva, N., & Almeida, D. (2015).
 Leisure-time physical activity moderates the longitudinal associations between work-family spillover and physical health. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 47(4), 4680-4707. doi:10.1080/00222216.2015.11950370
- Lee, K., Williams, K., Sargent, L., Williams, N., & Johnson, K. (2015). 40-second green room views sustain attention: The role of micro-breaks in attention restoration. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *42*, 182-189. doi:10.1016.j.jenvp.2015.04.003
- Liang, H., L. (2015). Are you tired? Spillover and crossover effects of emotional exhaustion of the family domain. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, 18(1), 22-32. doi:10.1111/asjp.12075
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newberry Park, CA: Sage.
- Loehr, J., & Schwartz, T. (2003). *The power of full engagement: Managing energy, not time, is the key to high performance and renewal.* New York, NY: Free Press.
- Long, B., & Driscoll, C. (2015). A discursive textscape of workplace spirituality. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 28(6), 948-969. doi:10.1108/JOCM-12-2014-0236
- Lussier, R., & Achua, C. (2016). *Leadership: Theory, application, & skill development* (6th ed.). Mason, OH: South-Western, Cenage Learning.

Mansour, S., & Tremblay, D. (2016). Workload, generic and work-family specific social supports and job stress: Mediating role of work-family and family-work-conflict. *Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 28*(8), 1778-1804. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-11-2014-0607

Manuel, S., Howansky, K., Chaney, K., & Sanchez, D. (2017). No rest for the stigmatized: A model of organizational health and workplace sexism. *Sex Roles*, 77(9-10), 697-708. doi:10.1007/s11199-017-0755-x

- Maxwell, J. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- McDowell, J., & Carter-Francique, A. (2017). An intersectional analysis of the workplace experiences of African American female athletic directors. *Sex Roles*, 77(5-6), 393-408. doi:10.1007/s11199-016-0730-y
- McGrath, E., Cooper-Thomas, H., Garrosa, E., San-Vergel, A., & Cheung, G. (2014).
 Rested, friendly, and engaged: The role of daily positive collegial interactions at work. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *38*(8), 1213-1226.
 doi:10.1002/job.2197
- Meijman, T., & Muder, G. (1998). Psychological Aspects of Workload. In P. Drenth, &
 H. E. Thiery, *Handbook of Work and Organizational Psychology* (pp. 5-33).
 Hove, England: Psychology Press.
- Molino, M., Cortese, C., Bakker, A., & Ghislieri, C. (2015). Do recovery experiences moderate the relationship between workload and work-family conflict? *Career Development International*, 20(7), 686-702. doi:10,1108/CDI-01-2015-0011

- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mroz, J., & Kaleta, K. (2016). Relationships between personality, emotional labor, work engagement and job satisfaction in sevice professions. *International JOurnal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, 29(5), 767-782.
 doi:10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00578
- Munoz, R., Hoppes, S., Hellman, C., Brunk, K., Bragg, J., & Cummins, C. (2018). The effects of mindfulness meditation on hope and stress. *Research and Social Work Practice*, 28(60), 696-707. doi:10.1177/1049731516674319
- Muraven, M., & Baumeister, R. (2000). Self-regulation and depletion of limited resources: Does self-control resemble a muscle? *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(2), 247-257. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.126.2.247
- Oerlemans, W., & Bakker, A. (2014). Burnout and daily recovery: A diary reconstruction study. *Journal of Occupational Helath Psychology*, 19(3), 303-314. doi:10.1037/a36904
- Park, H., & Lee, H. (2015). The effects of recovery-related self-efficacy on occupational health among Korean workers. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 22(4), 372-394. doi:10.1037/a0039185
- Patton, M. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Pereira, D., Gross, S., & Elfring, A. (2016). Social stressors at work, sleep, and recovery. *Applied Psychophyssical Biofeedback*, 41(1), 93-101. doi:10.1007/s10484-015-9317-6
- Perry, L., Nicholls, R., Duffield, C., & Gallagher, R. (2017). Building expert agreement on the importance and feasibility of workplace health promotion interventions for nurses and midwives: A modified Delphi consultation. 73(11), 2587-2599. doi:10.1111/jan.13345
- Pfeiffer, J. (2010). Building sustainable organizations: The human factor. Academy of Management Perspectives, 24(1), 34-45. doi:10.2139/ssrm.1545977
- Pignata, S., Boyd, C., Winefield, A., & Provis, C. (2017). Interventions: Employees' perceptions of what reduces stress. *Biomedical Research International*, 2017, 1-12. doi:10.1155/2017/39180
- Pinder, C. (2008). *Work motivation in organizational behavior* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Pink-Harper, S., & Rauhaus, B. (2017). Examining the impact of federal employee wellness programs and employee resilience in the federal workplace. *Journal lof Health & Human Services Administration*, 40(3), 353-387. Retrieved from https://www.jhhsa.spaef.org
- Plieger, T., Felton, A., Diks, E., Tepel, J., Mies, M., & Reuter, M. (2017). The impact of acute stress on cognitive functioning: A matter of cognitive demands? *Cognitive Neurpsychiatry*, 22(1), 69-82. doi:10.1080/135446805.2016.1261014

- Pluta, A., & Rudawska, A. (2016). Holistic approach to human resources and organizational acceleration. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 29(2), 293-309. doi:10.1108/JCM-11-2014-0210
- Ragsdale, J., & Beehr, T. (2016). A rigorous test of a model of employees' resource recovery mechanisms during a weekend. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 37(6), 911-932. doi:10.1002/job.2086
- Ragsdalew, C., Hoover, C., & Wood, K. (2016). Investigating affective dispositions as moderators of relationships betweeen weekend activities and recovery experiences. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 89(4), 734-750. doi:10.1111/joop.12150
- Randler, C., Luffer, M., & Muller, M. (2015). Morningness in teachers is related to a higher sense of coherence and lower burnout. *Social Indicators Research*, 122(2), 595-606. doi:10.1007/s11205-014-0699-2
- Rani, P., & Yadapadithaya, P. (2018). Conquering workplace stress through emotional intelligence: Strategies and possibilities. *Indian Journal of Commerce & Management Studies*, 9(1), 7-12. doi:10.1084/ijcms/v9i1/02
- Ravitch, S., & Carl, N. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rhee, H., & Kim, S. (2016). Effects of breaks on regaining vitality at work: An empirical comparison of conventional and smart phone breaks. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 57(C), 160-167. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.11.056

Rogers, R., Li, E., & Ellis, R. (1994). Perceptions of organizational stress among female executives in the U.S. government: An exploratory study. *Public Personnel Management, 23*(4), 593-609. doi:10.177/009102609402300406

Romanelli, M. (2018). Organizations and people for sustainability. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy, 6*(1), 117-128. doi:10.25019/MKDE/6.1.07

- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.).Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rubino, C., Volpone, S., & Avery, D. (2013). Burnout on Mars and Venus: Exploring gender diffferences in emotional exhaustion. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 28(2), 74-93. doi:10.1108/17542411311303220
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Saliba, Y., & Barden, S. (2017). Counselors and workplace wellness programs: A conceptual model. *Professional Counselor*, 7(2), 104-113. doi:10.15241/ys.7.2.104
- Savaneviciene, A., & Stankeviciute, Z. (2017). Smart power as a pathway for employing sustainable human resource management. *Inzinerine Ekonomika-Engineering Economics*, 28(2), 198-206. doi:10.5755,j01.ee.28.2.17645
- Schueller-Weidkamm, C., & Kautzky-Willer, A. (2012). Challenge of work-life balance for women physicians and mothers in leadership roles. *Gender Medicine*, 9(4), 244-250. doi:10.1016/j.genm.2012.04.002

- Schwartz, T. (2007). Manage your energy, not your time. *Harvard Business Review*, 85(10), 64-69. Retrieved from http://www.hbr
- Schwartz, T. (2010). The productivity paradox: How Sony Pictures gets more out of people by demanding less. *Harvard Business Review*, 88(6), 63-69. Retrieved from http://www.hbr
- Sharp-Donahoo, L., Siegrist, B., & Garrett-Wright, D. (2018). Addressing compassion fatigue and stress of special education teachers and professional staff using mindfulness and prayer. *Journal of School Nursing*, 34(6), 442-448. doi:10.1177/1059840517725789
- Shavitt, S., Cho, I., Johnson, D., Jiang, A., Holbrook, A., & Staavrakantonaki, M. (2016).
 Culture moderates the relation between perceived stress, social support, and
 mental and physical health. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 47(7), 956980. doi:10.1177/002202216656132
- Shenton, A. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, *22*(2), 63-75. doi:10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Sianoja, M., Kinnunen, U., de Bloom, J., Korpela, K., & Guerts, S. (2016). Recovery during lunch breaks: Testing long-term relations with energy levels at work. *Scandinavian Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 1(7), 1-12. doi:10.16993/sjwop.13
- Simon, M., & Goes, J. (2013). Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success. Seattle, WA: Dissertation Success.

- Siu, O., Cooper, C., & Phillips, D. (2014). Intervention studies on enhancing work wellbeing, reducing burnout, and improving experiences among Hong Kong healthcare workers and teachers. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 21(1), 69-84. doi:10.1037/a0033291
- Sloan, A., & Bowe, B. (2014). Phenomenology and hermeneutic phenomenology: The philosophy, the methodologies and using hermeneutic phenomenology to investigate lecturers' experiences of curriculum design. *Quality & Quantity, 48*(3), 1291-11303. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-985-3
- Smit, B. (2016). Successfully leaving work at work: The self-regulatory underpinnings of psychological detachment. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 89(3), 493-514. doi:10.1111/joop.12137
- Sonnentag, S. (2001). Work, recovery activities and individual well-being: A diary study. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 6(3), 196-210. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.6.3.196
- Sonnentag, S. (2018). The recovery paradox: Portraying the complex interplay between job stressors, lack of recovery, and poor well-being. *Journal of Research in Organizational Behavior, 38*, 169-185. doi:10.1016/j.riob.2018.11.002
- Sonnentag, S., Arbeus, H., Mahn, C., & Fritz, C. (2014). Exhaustion and lack of psychological detachment from work during off-job time: Moderator effects of time pressure and leisure experiences. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 19(2), 201-216. doi:10.1037/a0035760

- Sonnentag, S., Binnewies, C., & Mojza, E. (2008). "Did you have a nice evening?" A day-level study on recovery experiences, sleep, and affect. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(3), 674-684. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.93.3.674
- Sonnentag, S., Binnewies, C., & Mojza, E. (2010). Staying well and engaged when demands are high: The role of psychological detachment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(5), 965-976. doi:10.1037/a0020032
- Sonnentag, S., & Fritz, C. (2015). Recovery from job stress: The stressor-detachment model as an integrative framework. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 36(1), 72-103. doi:10.1002/job.1924
- Sonnentag, S., & Guerts, S. (2009). Methodological issues in recovery research. In S.
 Sonnentag, P. Perrewe, & D. Ganster, *Current Perspectives on Job-Stress and Well-Being (Research in Occupational Stress and Well-Being)* (Vol. 7, pp. 1-36).
 Bingley, United Kingdom: Emerald Group Publishing.
- Sonnentag, S., & Kuehnel, J. (2016). Coming back to work in the morning: Psychological detachment and reattachment as predictors of work engagement. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 21(4), 379-390. doi:10.1037/ocp0000020
- Sonnentag, S., Kutter, I., & Fritz, C. (2010). Job stressors, emotional exhaustion, and need for recovery: A multi-source study on the benefits of psychological detachment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *76*(3), 355-365.

doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2009.06.005

Sonnentag, S., & Niessen, C. (2008). Staying vigorous until work is over: The role of trait vigour, day-specific work experiences and recovery . *Journal of*

Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 81(3), 435-458.

doi:10.1348/096317908X310256

- Sonnentag, S., Venz, L., & Casper, A. (2017). Advances in recovery research: What have we learned? What should be done next? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(3), 365-380. doi:10.1037/ocp0000079
- Sonnentag, S., & Zijlstra, F. (2006). Job characteristics and off-job activities as predictors of need for recovery, well-being, and fatigue. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(2), 330-350. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.91.2.330
- Soyoung, P., & Sungchan, K. (2018). The linkage between work unit performance perceptions of U.S. federal employees and their job satisfaction: An expectancy theory. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences*, 13(52), 77-93. doi:10.24193/tras.52E5
- Stafyla, A., Kaltsidou, G., & Spyridis, N. (2013). Gender differences in work stress related to organizational conflicts and organizational constrains: An empircal research. *International Journal of Economic Sciences & Applied Research*, 6(1), 91-101. Retrieved from http://ssrm.com/abstract=2272958
- Stan, O. (2018). Steps towards sustainability: Human resource capital and employee wellbeing (benchmarking evidence). *Economics, Management, and Financial Markets, 13*(3), 290-300. Retrieved from https://www.ceol.com
- Szymanski, D., & Lewis, J. (2016). Gendered racism, coping, identity centrality, and African American college women's psychological distress. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 40*(2), 229-243. doi:10.1177/0361684315616113

- Taylor, W. (2005). Transforming work breaks to promote health. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 29(5), 461-465. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2005.08.040
- Taylor, W., King, S., Shegog, R., Paxton, R., Evans-Hudnall, G., Rempel, D., . . .
 Yancey, A. (2013). Booster breaks in the workplace: Participants' perspectives on health-promoting work breaks. *Health Education Research*, 28(3), 414-425. doi:10.1093/her/cyt001
- Trougakos, J., & Hideg, I. (2009). Momentary work recovery: The role of within-day work breaks. In S. Sonnentag, P. Perrewe, & D. Ganster, *Research in Occupational Stress and Well-being: Current perspectives on job-stress recovery* (Vol. 7, pp. 37-84). Bingley, United Kingdom: JAI Press/Emerald Group Publishing.
- Trougakos, J., Hideg, I., Cheng, B., & Beal, D. (2014). Lunch breaks unpacked: The role of autonomy as a moderator of recovery during lunch. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(2), 405-421. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.1072
- Truisk, K., Virtanen, M., de Bloom, J., & Kinnunen, U. (2016). Cultural leisure activities, recovery, and work engagement among hospital employees. *Journal of Industrial Health*, 54(3), 254-262. doi:10.2486/indhealth.2015-0124
- U.S. Department of Labor. (2016). 2016 current population survey and 2024 employment projections. Retrieved from U.S. Department of Labor: http://www.dol/wb/stats/NEWSTATS/latest/demographics.htm#DistLFAgeSex
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (2018). 2018 Federal Workplace Priorities Report. Retrieved from https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-

oversight/humancapital-management/federal-workplace-priorities-report/2018federal-workforce-priorities-report.pdf/

- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (2019a). *Senior executive service*. Retrieved from https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/senior-executive-service/
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (2019b). *Work-life health and wellness*. Retrieved from https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/worklife/health-wellness/
- Van Hoof, M., Flaxman, P., Soderberg, M., Stride, C., & Guerts, S. (2018). Basic psychological need satisfaction, recovery state, and recovery timing. *Human Performance*, 31(2), 125-143. doi:10.1080/08959285.2018.1466889
- Van Wijhe, C., Peeters, M., Schaufeli, W., & Ouweneel, C. (2013). Rise and shine:
 Recovery experiences of workaholic and non-workaholic employees. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 22*(4), 476-489. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2012.663527
- Vandevala, T., Pavey, L., Chelidoni, O., Chang, N., Creagh-Brown, B., & Cox, A. (2017). Psychological rumination and recovery from work in intensive care professionals: Associations with stress, burnout, depression and health. *Journal of Intensive Care, 5*(16), 1-8. doi:10.1186/s40560-017-0209-0
- Verma, R., Balhara, Y., & Gupta, C. (2011). Gender difdferences in stress response: Role of developmental and biological determinants. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 20(1), 4-10. doi:10.4103/0972-6748.98407
- Watanabe, K., Otsuka, Y., Inoue, A., Sakurai, K., Ui, A., & Nakata, A. (2016). Interrelationships between job resources, vigor, exercise habit, and serum lipids in

Japanese employees: A multiple group path analysis using medical checkup data. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *23*(4), 410-417. doi:10.1007/s12529-015-9516-9

- Webb, R., & Rosenbaum, P. (2019). Resilience and thinking perpendicularly: A meditation or morning jog. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 33(1), 75-89. doi:10.1080/87568225.2018.1449687
- Woods-Giscombe, C., & Lobel, M. (2008). Race and gender matter: A multidimensional approach to conceptualizing and measuring stress in African American women. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 14(3), 173-182. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.14.3.173
- Xanthopoulou, D., Sanz-Vergel, A., & Demerouti, E. (2014). Reconsidering the daily recovery process: New insights and related methodological challenges. In Leka, & Sinclair (Eds.), *Contemporary occupational health psychology: Global perspectives on research and practice* (Vol. 3, pp. 51-67).
 doi:10.1002/9781118713860
- Yin, R. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Zacher, H., Brailsford, H., & Parker, S. (2014). Micro-breaks matter: A diary study on the efffects of energy management strategies on occupational well-being. *Journal* of Vocational Behavior, 85, 287-297. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2014.08.005

Zijlstra, F., Cropley, M., & Rydstedt, L. (2014). From recovery to regulation: An attempt to reconceptualize recovery from work. *Stress and Health*, *30*(3), 244-252. doi:10.1002/smi.2604

Zoupanou, Z., Cropley, M., & Rydstedt, L. (2013). Recovery after work: The role of work beliefs in the unwinding process. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e81381.
doi:10.1037/journal.pone.0081381

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Details:

Interviewer:	
Interviewee:	
Interview Code Name:	
Interview Date/Time:	

Interview Location: _____

Protocol Administrative Actions:

- 1. Collect signed consent form prior to start of interview.
- 2. Provide a brief summary and the background of the study.
- 3. As the researcher, share personal connection or experience with the study.
- 4. Provide participant a signed and dated copy of confidentiality statement
- 5. Inform participant the interview will be audio-recorded and professionally transcribed.
- 6. Inform participant a copy of their transcript will be provided to them prior to data analysis for member checking.
- 7. If requested, provide a summary of results of the study.

Demographic Questions

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your gender?
- 3. How long have you worked in your current position?
- 4. How long have you supervised others?

- 5. Do you work for a federal agency in the National Capital Region (NCR) which includes the District of Columbia, and jurisdictions in Maryland and Virginia? There are numerous federal agencies in the NCR. As such, providing a listing would not be helpful; however, the large number may yield varied experiences with rich data.
- 6. Do you have a general understanding of the concept of energy as described in the informed consent form?

Interview Questions

- 1. Tell me about your typical day.
- 2. How do you define energy in relation to performing the job?
- 3. Describe your level of vigor when you arrive at work.
- 4. How do you recognize and gauge your energy levels?
- 5. What is it like to experience a state of *high* energy? How is that expressed in your work?
- 6. What is it like to experience a state of *low* energy? How is that expressed in your work?
- 7. When your energy is *high*, what is it like to manage it to ensure you have personal energy to continue to perform and meet future work demands?
- 8. When your energy is *low*, what is it like to restore it to ensure you have personal energy to meet future work demands?
- 9. What is it like to handle aspects of your position as a senior manager when experiencing *high* energy?

- 10. What is it like to handle aspects of your position as a senior manager when experiencing low energy?
- 11. How often during the workday do you take actions to renew your energy, and what types of activities, strategies, or experiences do you engage in to do so?
- 12. If you have found a strategy which helps to restore energy, what is that strategy? Why does this strategy work?
- 13. What is your perception of the challenges or obstacles you may face in trying to manage or replenish your energy while at work?
- 14. What is it like to match energy output with your stores of energy?
- 15. What does it mean to you to experience feelings of vigor and vitality while at work?

Appendix B: Recruitment Letter

Posting Title: Seeking participants for a study on Energy Management

Posting Description: I am currently a doctoral student at Walden University. I am seeking participants for a study entitled, "Managing Energy as Experienced by Female Federal Senior Managers: A Qualitative Phenomenological Study". The Walden University Institution Review Board (IRB) approved the study (IRB # 12-03-19-0660542). It expires in December 2020.

The study seeks to examine the experiences of women trying to manage and replenish personal energy while at work. Your participation in this research study may be instrumental in providing insight regarding the importance of developing a conscious and intentional awareness of the role of personal energy in regulating activities, behaviors, and interactions in the workplace.

I am seeking various points of view from women with diverse backgrounds. If you are interested in participating in this study and meet the following criteria, I welcome your assistance. Thank you for your consideration.

What are the criteria?

- Participant must be a female.
- Participant must be a supervisor.
- Participant must have worked in current position for at least one year.
- Participant must be a supervisor working in a Federal agency in the National Capital Region (Washington District of Columbia, Virginia, and Maryland

• Participant should have a basic understanding of the concept of energy as defined below.

What is energy?

At its most basic, energy is the amount of vigor or vitality an individual has to do work. Energy may have mental, physical, emotional, or spiritual dimensions. Mental energy describes the capacity for managers to concentrate, show resiliency, and be flexible in the performance of responsibilities and duties. Emotional energy is the capacity to manage emotions in the conduct of performance. Spiritual energy is a personal set of values motivating and guiding performance, actions, and behaviors. Spiritual energy drives commitment. Physical energy is the primary source of vigor and alertness and is the fundamental source for mental acuity, emotional equilibrium, strength, and endurance. Nutrition, fitness, quality of sleep, and intermittent recovery determine the degree of physical energy. Energy management is a deliberate and conscious effort to balance the expenditure and restoration of energy. Work requires the use of energy. As an individual works, mental, emotional, spiritual, or physical energy resources are depleted. To prepare for future work demands, it is important to replenish or restore these depleted resources. Different strategies may be used to restore depleted energy. As an example, restoring physical energy through exercise and proper sleep may provide the energy needed to perform better. The different types of energy have the potential to affect or influence the others and may manifest themselves in an individual's actions and behaviors during the course of the workday.

Upon agreeing to participate,

What is the role of a participant?

Upon agreeing to participate, each participant will be asked to sign an informed consent form. This form outlines the purpose for the study, provides details on the research process, describes the voluntary nature of the study, discusses risk and benefits, describes the confidentiality, and confirms an agreement to participate in the study. Each participant will be asked to take part in a one-on-one informal interview. The interview session will last between 45 – 60 minutes and will take place at a mutually-agreed-upon time and place. The session will be audio-recorded and professionally transcribed. Participants will have the opportunity to review the transcript to validate the content or provide clarification, in needed. If a follow-up interview is needed to clarify information provided during the interview, the participant will be contacted. Participant will be assigned a unique code or name to protect their identities during the course of the study. All transcripts, field notes, and other study materials will be protected and/or locked in container for security of data.